

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

Official and Unofficial Mentorship by Generational Cohorts of State Teachers of the Year

Angelica Jordan Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Angelica Jordan

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Alice Eichholz, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Daniel Salter, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Rochelle Michel, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

Official and Unofficial Mentorship by Generational Cohorts of State Teachers of the Year

by

Angelica L. Jordan

MA, Hamline University, 1999 BA, Concordia College, 1995

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education
K-12 Educational Leadership

Walden University

June 2017

Abstract

Some school districts are exploring mentorship to help teachers enact more effective classroom practices that lead to higher student outcomes. The Good to Great study, by the National Network of State Teachers of the Year outlined the professional growth opportunities that state teachers of the year (STOYs) perceived as contributing to their success in the classroom. Although the STOYs noted that mentorship was a key factor, the original study did not examine how different generations of educators may respond differently to mentorship based on their generational cohort identity. The purpose of this nonexperimental, causal-comparative study using Good to Great data was to examine how STOY Baby Boomers and Gen Xers perceived specific attributes of official and unofficial mentorship. Strauss and Howe's generational cohort theory and Zachary's mentoring theory provided the theoretical foundation. The research questions examined whether there was a significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of (a) official mentors' and unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, (b) the alignment of personality to the mentee, and (c) their ability to offer support. In a secondary analysis of the existing data, Hotelling's T^2 tests indicated that Baby Boomers and Gen Xers did not show a significant difference in their overall perceptions of official nor unofficial mentoring factors. However, a post hoc analysis indicated that Baby Boomers had a significantly higher (p = .01) perception of official mentors' personality alignment to the mentee. The positive social change implication of this study is the potential to increase student learning by designing more effective mentorship programs to meet the needs of different generations of teachers.

Official and Unofficial Mentorship by Generational Cohorts of State Teachers of the Year

by

Angelica L. Jordan

MA, Hamline University, 1999 BA, Concordia College, 1995

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education
K-12 Educational Leadership

Walden University

June 2017

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my loving family. Jason, when I began this PhD journey, our twins had just turned 5 years old. Within a month of starting the program, I changed jobs and we uprooted and moved. In the last year of the dissertation, I was promoted and this time we moved to a new country. Through all of this transition, you have been the constant for our family. Thank you for your love, support, and encouragement over the last six years. Thank you for sacrificing your dreams and aspirations for mine. You are my champion, my hero, and my forever love.

Andrew and Joseph, since the moment you entered school, I have been in school with you. I still remember the day, near the end of the dissertation, when you were encouraging me to keep writing, chanting, "Dr. Mommy, Dr. Mommy!" Not every day was full of such enthusiasm. There were many weekend days that you spent with your dad instead of me, so I could study. These days provided a valuable lesson too: Great accomplishments require grit, perseverance, and tenacity. As you grow into young men, you will remember that sometimes life is hard, and we push through it anyway. In the end, the path is yours and your dreams are waiting.

Mom and dad, through your love and support, I grew up with the self-belief that I could do anything. You valued education and instilled in me a love for teaching and learning. Even as an adult, I can feel your influence on my life. Mom, I know that you are watching me in heaven, cheering me on. Dad, even across the miles, you have been there for me each step of the way with your encouraging words.

To all of you, thank you. I love you forever and back again.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Dr. Alice Eichholz, my mentor and committee chair. My only regret is that I met Dr. Eichholz halfway into my program rather than on the first day. Your feedback, kindness, and support changed my perspective on the PhD process and allowed me to move forward with my goals. You truly understand adult learning and the mentoring relationship. I am thankful for your leadership, support, and guidance.

I would also like to thank Dr. Daniel Salter for sharing his expertise about quantitative statistics in a way that was meaningful and not intimidating. Your kind words and relaxed demeanor allowed me to focus on my analyses without anxiety. Thank you for taking the time to walk me through my study and for your commitment to helping me to reach my goals.

I want to thank the NNSTOY organization and their CEO, Katherine Bassett, for granting access to the original Good to Great study. This organization has become a pioneer in the field of teacher leadership, paving the way for aligning research, policy, and practice in education. I also would like to thank Catherine Jacques and the American Institutes for Research for organizing the logistics of sharing the data. Without these two organizations, this dissertation study would not have been possible.

Finally, I am eternally grateful to Walden University and their collaboration with the National Teacher of the Year program. Through their partnership, I received a full scholarship for my PhD studies. Thank you.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study		
	Background	2
	Problem Statement	4
	Purpose of the Study	5
	Research Questions and Hypotheses	6
	Theoretical Framework	7
	Nature of the Study	9
	Operational Definitions.	10
	Assumptions	11
	Scope and Delimitations	12
	Limitations	13
	Significance	14
	Summary	15
Cł	napter 2: Literature Review	17
	Preview of the Chapter	17
	Literature Search Strategies	18
	Synopsis of Current Literature	20
	Theoretical Foundation	23
	Mentoring Theory	23
	Generational Cohort Theory	27

Rationale for Theoretical Framework	33
Literature Review of Key Variables and Concepts	33
Effective Mentoring Relationships	33
Characteristics of Effective Mentors	35
Generations and Mentoring	40
Official Mentorship in Education	44
Unofficial Mentorship in Education	48
Research Trends	55
Gaps in the Literature	60
Summary	61
Chapter 3: Research Method	63
Research Design and Rationale	63
Research Questions and Hypotheses	65
Methodology	67
Population	67
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	68
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	70
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	71
Data Analysis	74
Threats to Validity	76
Ethical Procedures	78
Summary	79

Chapter 4: Results	81	
Data Collection	83	
Data Screening	83	
Data Coding	84	
Results	86	
Descriptive Statistics	86	
Evaluation of Assumptions for the Hotelling's T^2	87	
Inferential Statistics	88	
Summary	89	
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	91	
Interpretation of the Findings	92	
Limitations of the Study	93	
Recommendations	95	
Implications	97	
Conclusion	98	
References	99	

List of Tables

Table 1.	. Descriptive Statistics Used to Evaluate the Dependent Variables	86
Table 2.	. Tests of Between-Subjects Effects	89

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

In a pivotal moment in America's educational history, the National Commission on Excellence in Education released its deprecating report on the state of the educational system in the United States (Gardner, 1983). *A Nation At Risk* outlined how America's schools were failing students and how student achievement was in a dismal decline. Since then, educational leaders have proposed that the societal problem of low student achievement could be solved by providing teachers with professional development to improve their effectiveness (DuFour & Eaker, 1998; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011). One form of professional development, mentoring, has become a common practice in schools and districts throughout the United States (Lieberman & Hanson, 2012; Zachary, 2012). When done effectively, mentorship programs improve teacher practice and increase student achievement (Ingersoll & Strong, 2011). But different generations of teachers have responded differently to mentoring (Howe & Strauss, 2008; Zachary, 2012). Therefore, this study examined the differences in perceptions of official and unofficial mentorship by generational cohorts.

The participants were formally recognized K-12 state teachers of the year (STOYs). Understanding STOYs generational cohorts' views on mentorship in the context of their professional growth could provide a deeper understanding of how diversifying mentorship programs could help average teachers become excellent teachers. In the literature, there was limited information about this population of award-winning teachers. The educational community could use the findings of the study to design professional development that aligns with the needs of different generations of teachers,

and thus create more effective learning opportunities. This study has implications for positive social change: More teacher-centered mentorship programs take into account generational differences and thus have greater potential to influence teacher practice. By improving teacher practice, students could benefit from more effective instruction and enhanced educational experiences.

Chapter 1 covers the following topics: background of the study, problem statement, purpose, research questions and hypotheses, theoretical framework, the nature of the study, operational definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and the significance of the study.

Background

The National Network of State Teachers of the Year (NNSTOY) is a nonprofit organization dedicated to supporting K-12 teacher leaders through policy, practice, and advocacy (Behrstock-Sherratt, Bassett, Olson, & Jacques, 2014). Recently, the organization has begun partnering with research companies to examine many aspects of teacher effectiveness. In 2014, NNSTOY published the results of the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014), which documented how STOYs perceived their professional growth across the career continuum, from preservice educators to becoming teacher leaders, and the factors to which they attributed to their success. According to the findings, 68% of the K-12 STOYs who had a mentor (53% of the overall group) listed mentorship as one of their top three factors that contributed to their effectiveness in the classroom. Although the researchers in the Good to Great study collected demographics

about each STOY's age group, these data were not used to examine how different generations perceived the role of official and unofficial mentorship in teacher growth.

This study analyzed how different generational cohorts perceived mentorship. Therefore, there were two theoretical frameworks for the study: Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory and Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory. Mentoring theory (Zachary, 2012) focuses on how a mentoring relationship contributes to an adult's personal and professional learning. Mentors are knowledgeable advisors who guide the personal, professional, or educational journey of a mentee (Daloz, 2012). They may be officially assigned the role, such as instructional coaches or lead teachers, or they may serve as an unofficial mentor, working informally with a colleague to provide support and guidance as a peer, but without an official title or assignment (Bynum, 2015; Hull & Balka, 2009; Zachary, 2012). According to Zachary (2012), both formal and informal mentoring relationships progress through a cycle of preparation, negotiation, growth, and closure. Mentoring relationships might be strengthened by using generational cohort typology, that is, each generation has specific characteristics based on their shared historical and social experiences. Zachary recommended that mentors frame their mentoring relationship in the context of the generation.

Zachary's (2012) emphasis on generational context in mentorship aligned with Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory. Strauss and Howe proposed that the each American generation lasts about 20 years and that the characteristics of each cohort are defined by their shared social and historical backgrounds, specifically during their formative years. These shared experiences have led to typical cohort attributes that

endure over time. Although there has been disagreement in the mainstream media about the defining years of each cohort, for the purposes of this dissertation research, Strauss and Howe's cohort definitions were used. Baby Boomers, born between 1943 and 1960 (Howe & Strauss, 2008), are known for their strong work ethic and independence. Gen Xers, born between 1961 and 1981, are characterized by their emphasis on productivity and collaboration. This cohort would prefer to work smarter, not harder. In today's K-12 educational institutions, the Baby Boomers are most often the veteran teachers and administrators, leading the schools (Howe & Strauss, 2008). The Gen Xers are the dominant generation of experienced teachers. Even with dramatically different values and life experiences, Baby Boomers and Gen Xers are expected to work collaboratively while leading and teaching today's schools. They are all committed to educating the next generation of students. Thus, mentorship programs that leverage the typical generational cohort characteristics have the potential to make a positive change in schools. In this research I examined how different generational cohorts of STOYs perceived official and unofficial mentorship as contributing to their professional growth.

Problem Statement

After years of research, Strauss and Howe (1991) introduced their generational cohort theory, which proposed that each generation in American society shared common experiences due to the trends and events of the time, leading to specific generational cohort descriptors. These differences are apparent in educators who approach teaching and learning from unique perspectives based on their cohort, and as such, may respond differently to mentoring (Zachary, 2012). As a result, Zachary (2012) suggested that

generational typology, the typical characteristics of each generation, might be used to support mentoring relationships. What was not found in the research literature was how different generations of successful teacher leaders perceived their work with official and unofficial mentors. Thus, this study addressed a gap in the literature by extending the findings about STOYs from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) and by examining the differences in the way each generation of mentees perceived official and unofficial mentorship.

Purpose of the Study

Using the data from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014), this quantitative causal-comparative and ex post facto study sought to advance generational cohort theory (Strauss & Howe, 1991) and educational practice as they relate to the generational cohorts of Baby Boomers and Gen Xers and their views on official and unofficial mentors in their educational careers. Participants in this secondary analysis of the Good to Great data (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) included formally recognized K-12 STOYs from throughout the United States. The first independent variable was defined as a generational cohort with two distinct categories: Baby Boomers born between 1943-1960 and Gen Xers born between 1961-1981 (Strauss & Howe, 1991). The second independent variable was mentor status: official and unofficial mentors. The dependent variables were three: mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and their ability to offer support (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). Because the existing dataset did not appear to distinguish between participants who had both an official and an

unofficial mentor, these attributes were treated in separate research questions rather than as conditions of a second independent variable.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Two research questions were used in this study:

RQ1: Is there a significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of official mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support?

 H_{01} : There is no significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of official mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support.

 $(H_{\rm A1})$: STOY Baby Boomers will have significantly higher perceptions of official mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and/or the ability to offer support as compared with Generation Xers.

RQ2: Is there a significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support?

 (H_{02}) : There is no significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support.

 $(H_{\rm A2})$: STOY Generation Xers will have significantly higher perceptions of unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and/or the ability to offer support as compared with Baby Boomers.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical frameworks in this dissertation research were Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory and Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory. The major theoretical proposition for this research study was that different generations of teacher leaders, specifically Baby Boomers and Gen Xers, perceive official and unofficial mentorship differently. Together, mentoring theory (Zachary, 2012) and generational cohort theory (Strauss & Howe, 1991) offer support for this hypothesis. These frameworks are described in detail in Chapter 2.

According to Zachary (2012), mentoring theory explains how a mentoring relationship helps adult learners achieve their personal or professional goals. The primary role of the mentor is to assist the mentee by facilitating her or his learning by offering support, structure, reflection, and accountability. The mentor and mentee work together to meet the mentee's goals. Mentors can be formally assigned to the role or informally selected. Formal mentors operate within a predefined program that is often structured by a business or school to enhance professional learning (Bynum, 2015; Hull & Balka, 2009; Zachary, 2012). The organization sets the parameters for the relationship including outcomes, timelines, and accountability. On the other hand, informal mentorship is casual, and it is based on the needs of the mentee. The mentee selects a colleague or peer to serve as a mentor (Zachary, 2012). The structure and parameters of the informal mentoring relationship are negotiated together. Zachary suggested that both formal and informal mentoring relationships progress through a four-phase cycle: preparing,

negotiating, enabling growth, and closing. Although the cycle appears linear, it often moves in both directions to revisit ideas from each phase as need arises.

Mentoring theory highlights mentorship within the context of different generations. According to Zachary (2012), generational cohorts share some of the same characteristics that can be leveraged to enhance the mentoring relationship. For example, Baby Boomers tend to have a strong work ethic and often their identity is intertwined with their work accomplishments. Zachary's mentoring theory might be supported by the hypothesis that Boomers respond well to formal mentoring programs that have well-defined parameters. Gen Xers, on the other hand, are known for their entrepreneurial skills and productivity, but are skeptical of authority (Howe & Strauss, 1993). Zachary (2012) suggests that Gen Xers might respond more positively to competent, but informal, mentors. This application of mentoring theory was tested by analyzing the informal mentorship data from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) by generations. Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory relates well to Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory because they use similar cohort descriptors.

Strauss and Howe (1991) define generational (20-year) cohorts by their birth year; a generational *cycle* consists of four generations (80 years) that reoccur in a fixed order. According to Strauss and Howe (1991), the four reoccurring generations are as follows: idealist, reactive, civic, and adaptive. Each generation is characterized by the shared experiences of its formative years. These historical and social experiences lead to common and predictable effects on the cohort (Howe & Strauss, 2008). In this study, I tested whether Strauss and Howe's cohort descriptors of Baby Boomers and Gen Xers

aligned with the generational cohort data on formal and informal mentorship, potentially adding support to the validity of both theories.

Both generational cohort theory and mentoring theory offer support for this research. Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory suggested that formal and informal mentoring relationships go through a learning cycle and that mentors may benefit from using generational cohort typology in working with mentees. Generational cohort theory (Strauss & Howe, 1991) delineates how each generation thinks and acts, based on shared experiences. Taken together, mentoring theory and generational cohort theory support the hypothesis that Baby Boomers, who respect traditional roles and values, might perceive official mentorship more positively than Gen Xers. On the other hand, Gen Xers, due to their mistrust of authority and their flexible nature, might perceive an unofficial mentor more positively than an official mentor. This study is expected to contribute to the field of educational research by testing and extending both mentoring theory and generational cohort theory.

Nature of the Study

This causal-comparative, ex post facto study was a secondary analysis of data collected from the quantitative, cross-sectional, Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). The purpose of the study was to examine three qualities that the mentee (STOY) attributed to increasing his or her effectiveness as an educator: the official or unofficial mentor's level of empathy, the alignment of the mentor's personality to the mentee, and the mentor's ability to offer support. Through disaggregating the data by generational cohorts, Baby Boomers and Gen Xers were compared to determine whether

there were differences in perceived attributes of official and unofficial mentorship based on their cohort.

Operational Definitions

Several terms are used throughout this dissertation to address specific aspects of the study. The technical terms are defined in this section for reference.

State Teachers of the Year (STOYs) are defined as teachers who were officially recognized by their state as the annual teacher of the year and who received the award from the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO, 2016).

Official mentor is defined as a more knowledgeable professional who has been assigned the formal role of mentor, instructional coach, or teacher leader (Bynum, 2015; Hull & Balka, 2009; Zachary, 2012). Official mentors operate within predetermined parameters that are set by an organization.

Unofficial mentor is defined as a more knowledgeable professional who takes on the casual, informal role of guiding a colleague without the defined title of mentor (Bynum, 2015; Hull & Balka, 2009; Zachary, 2012).

Cohort is a generation of people that have developed similar traits and characteristics based on shared social, political, and historical experiences (Howe & Strauss, 2008).

Mentor's level of empathy is the level of compassion the mentor exhibits towards the mentee (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014).

The alignment of personality to the mentee is defined as how closely the mentor's interests are complimentary to the mentee's interests (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014).

Ability to offer support is how the mentor is able to provide helpful advice to the mentee (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014).

Assumptions

This study was based on four assumptions.

- It was assumed that studying the population of STOYs would provide useful information for all teachers because all were originally inexperienced. STOYs noted mentorship as one of the key professional development experiences that led to their growth (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014).
- It was assumed that participants who responded to the original Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) were honest and accurate. Dependable responses were important because the generational cohort data were disaggregated based on the age groups provided in the demographic section of the survey.
- It was assumed that categorizing participants by generational cohorts was a meaningful way to group participants.
- Since the results of this study were dependent on the quality of the original data collected, it was assumed that the Good to Great dataset provided by the American Institutes for Research (2014) was complete. Although the lead researcher provided assurances that the dataset was both accurate and complete, the original data collection was not under my control.

Scope and Delimitations

This research was focused on differences in how Baby Boomers and Gen Xers perceived both official and unofficial mentorship, although other generations may be represented in the overall instructional workforce. In K-12 schools, Baby Boomers are the teachers nearing retirement or serving as school level administrators, whereas Gen Xers are the experienced teacher leaders (Howe & Strauss, 2008). Although Baby Boomers and Gen Xers are at different career stages and have unique generational attributes, these two groups of educators are expected to work collaboratively to educate students. A study that emphasizes how each generation perceives mentorship could provide insight into how to maximize the professional learning opportunities for each generation of teacher leaders.

This study was delimited in three ways.

The sampling frame for this study included all STOYs who were officially recognized by CCSSO as their state representative between 1970 and 2013 (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). The original Good to Great study was completed using an online survey, thus limiting the population to STOYs within the database of the NNSTOY electronic mailing list. Due to the limited sample population of the Millennial and Silent generations, this study included only two cohorts: Baby Boomers and Gen Xers. Data from other generations was excluded due to the limited sampling of participants born prior to 1943 or after 1981.

- Mentoring theory and generational cohort theory were selected as the theoretical framework for this study. Several theories could have been indirectly related to the context of the study but were not considered: adult learning theory, social learning theory, sociocultural learning theory, social cognitive theory, and organizational culture theory.
- This study examined a specific population of award-winning teacher leaders and the results may not be generalizable to other populations.

Limitations

This study used a secondary analysis of existing data. By its nature, secondary data analysis has limitations (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015). The original dataset from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) used questions that only approximate the types of questions that could be asked if a survey were designed specifically for this study's research questions. Also, the original report on the Good to Great study did not contain information about how the instrument was tested for reliability in the scores. This information needed to be gathered through consultation with the original researchers and through testing the raw data for reliability.

In the case of the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014), the typical limitations of existing data use were countered through developing a collaborative partnership. The American Institutes for Research (2014) team provided access to the raw dataset for use and has provided a published description of the data collection process. The lead researcher was the point of contact for this study and provided information about the original study as questions arose.

In this case, the use of existing data was a timely, efficient, and cost-effective way to offer a new perspective about generational cohorts of STOYs, thus benefitting both the researcher and the NNSTOY organization.

Significance

This study was expected to contribute to the field of educational research by providing insights into how different generations of STOYs perceived the nature of official and unofficial mentoring relationships. This research study has practical implications for schools and districts throughout the United States that seek to increase the effectiveness of their official mentorship programs based on the needs of different generational cohorts of adult learners. Generational cohort data could be used to strengthen the relationships between mentee and mentor, building trust and leading to more effective mentoring. Furthermore, peer mentors may benefit from this study by using the generational data from unofficial mentorship to enhance how they engage with their colleagues on professional learning teams and through team teaching.

This study has implications for positive social change. Higher quality professional learning and more effective mentorship could lead to improved student outcomes. As K-12 schools, school districts, and states struggle to meet the needs of diverse student populations (DuFour, 2010), more effective mentorship programs would take advantage of the expertise of teacher leaders, and thus promote a more capable and diverse workforce (Bosso, 2014). By using generational cohort typology, school districts might design professional learning programs to support the mentor–mentee relationship and

more readily improve instructional practices. By increasing the effectiveness of teachers, quality mentorship programs might also enhance student learning.

Summary

In summary, this chapter introduced the dissertation study. School districts are using teacher mentorship as a method of increasing professional learning and student outcomes (Lieberman & Hanson, 2012; Zachary, 2012). The Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) examined the factors that STOYs perceived as contributing to their success in the classroom. However, the original study did not examine how different generations of educators may respond differently to mentorship based on their generational cohort identity. The purpose of this nonexperimental, causalcomparative study using Good to Great data was to examine how STOY Baby Boomers and Gen Xers perceived specific attributes of official and unofficial mentorship. Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory and Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory provided the theoretical foundation. The research questions examined whether there was a significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of (a) official mentors' and unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, (b) the alignment of personality to the mentee, and (c) their ability to offer support. The positive social change implications of the study include the potential for enhanced mentorship programs designed to better meet the needs of the mentee. This could lead to increased student outcomes within the school setting.

Chapter 2 includes a more detailed explanation of the theoretical frameworks and a thorough review of the current literature. In chapter 3, I discuss the research methods

including the research design, rationale, questions, hypotheses, and statistical tests. Next, in Chapter 4 I describe the data screening and the results of the statistical analyses. Finally, in Chapter 5 I interpret the results within the context of the theoretical frameworks and the literature review. Chapter 5 also includes recommendations for future research and the implications of the results.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this study was to advance generational cohort theory (Strauss & Howe, 1991) and educational practice with respect to the generational cohorts of Baby Boomers and Gen Xers and their views on official and unofficial mentors in their teaching careers. Existing data from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) was used. Thus, the participants were STOYs from the United States and its territories. By examining the mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and ability to offer support, Baby Boomers and Gen Xers were compared to determine if there were differences in perceived attributes of official and unofficial mentorship based on their cohort.

Preview of the Chapter

The chapter introduction begins with the problem and purpose as they relate to the study. A brief synopsis of the literature is also included. The chapter continues with the scope of the literature reviewed and the search strategies used. Next, the theoretical frameworks of mentoring theory (Zachary, 2012) and generational cohort theory (Strauss & Howe, 1991) are described in depth, including an analysis of current research that supports or negates the theories. A rationale for the use of the theoretical frameworks and their relationship to the study is also provided. The next section of this chapter is an extensive review of the literature. The literature review includes current research about mentoring relationships, the characteristics of effective mentors, and generations as they relate to mentorship. Research findings about the study's dependent variables (mentor's level of empathy, ability to offer support, and personality alignment) are embedded into

these sections. Moreover, recurring research findings about unofficial and official mentorship are also presented. The chapter concludes with a discussion of research trends that revealed a gap in the literature as it relates to the current study.

Literature Search Strategies

To complete a review of the literature, academic databases were searched:

Education Research Complete, ERIC, Sage Premier, ProQuest Central, Academic Search
Complete, and SocINDEX with Full Text. Google Scholar was also used and crossreferenced with databases at Walden University. The following keywords were used:

induction mentoring, generational cohort, generational theory, mentoring theory,
instructional coaching, mentoring and teachers, Teachers of the Year, mentoring and
education, and mentoring and generations. Limiting factors included peer-reviewed
journal articles and publication dates between 2011 and 2016. Additional articles from
the references in the selected articles were identified, retrieved, and reviewed.

The release of the National Commission on Excellence in Education's report, *A Nation At Risk* (Gardner, 1983), highlighted how America's schools were failing students. For decades, educational researchers have proposed that professional development for teachers could lead to improved classroom instruction and better educational outcomes for students (DuFour & Eaker, 1998; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011). Mentorship programs are one strategy that schools and districts throughout the United States are implementing to transform teacher practice (Lieberman & Hanson, 2012; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011; Zachary, 2012). However, the research about how different generations of teacher leaders respond to mentorship was unclear.

Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory suggested that each generation of Americans grows up experiencing common societal trends and historical events, leading to specific cohort descriptors. For instance, a Baby Boomer who was raised by a parent of the Great Depression would likely grow up to have a strong work ethic and sense of community. However, a Gen Xer who was raised as a latch-key child of a dual income family might be more independent and less trusting of authority. These differences are evident as educators approach teaching and learning from unique perspectives based on their cohort affiliation and therefore may respond differently to mentoring (Zachary, 2012). In her mentoring theory, Zachary suggested that the use of generational typology could enhance mentoring relationships.

Much of the research on mentoring focuses solely on teacher induction or specific program evaluations (Ingersoll & Strong, 2011). However, there are limited data available about how different generations perceive mentorship. Furthermore, few studies were found that examine the population of STOYs and the professional development that helped them grow (Bosso, 2014). Therefore, this study further analyzed the generational cohort data collected about STOYs from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) to help identify differences in how each generation perceived selected attributes of official and unofficial mentors. This research addressed gaps in the literature through examining a broader scope of participants from throughout the United States and by providing a unique perspective on how different generations of STOYs perceived the nature of official and unofficial mentoring relationships.

As school districts strive to support continued teacher growth, the results of this study could be used to design more effective learning opportunities for teachers that are differentiated to meet the needs of each generational cohort. Through developing teacher-centered mentorship programs that take into account generational differences, school districts have the potential to greatly influence instructional practice. The positive social change implications of this study include the transformation of teacher practice leading to more effective instruction, improved educational experiences for students, and possibly higher student achievement.

Synopsis of Current Literature

The foundation of this dissertation research was based on a synthesis of Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory and Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory. Mentoring theory (Zachary, 2012) describes how mentoring relationships help adult learners achieve their goals. The primary role of the mentor is to facilitate the mentee's learning through offering support, structure, reflection, and accountability. According to Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory, different cohorts may perceive mentorship through a unique perspective. Strauss and Howe defined generational cohorts by their birth year, noting that a generation lasts approximately 20 years. Moreover, the theorists proposed that each generation is characterized by their shared experiences during their formative years, leading to common and predictable effects on the cohort (Howe & Strauss, 2008). Thus, the success of a mentoring relationship might be influenced by the generational differences between cohorts.

When reviewing the literature about mentorship, themes emerged that supported Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory and Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory. First, researchers agreed with Zachary (2012) who proposed that building an effective mentoring relationship was a vital part of assisting the mentee to grow (Arora & Rangnekar, 2014; Daloz, 2012, Efron, Winter, & Bressman, 2012; Howe & Jacobs, 2013; Lieberman & Hanson, 2012; Zachary, 2012). Through creating an open, honest dialogue, teacher mentees felt that they were able to trust their mentors and were able to take risks to try new instructional techniques (Efron et al., 2012). Furthermore, researchers concurred that mentors were most effective when they employed adult learning theory (Edge, 2014; Holyoke & Larson, 2009; Lee, Krauss, Suandi, & Hamzah, 2014; Linder, Eckhoff, Igo, & Stegelin, 2013) as suggested by Zachary (2012). When a mentor facilitated dialogues and designed collaborative opportunities to learn such as lesson studies and professional learning teams, mentees learned from their peers and from self-reflection.

An in-depth review of the variables for this dissertation study revealed that personality alignment between the mentor and mentee was beneficial to the mentoring relationship (Eriksson, 2013; Pogodzinski, 2012). When both parties had similar beliefs and ideals, the mentees reported interacting more often across all topics (Pogodzinski, 2012). Also, emotional support and empathy for the mentee positively contributed to mentoring relationship (Efron et al., 2012; Israel, Kamman, McCray, & Sindelar, 2014; Linder, 2011; Pogodzinski, 2012; Wasburn, Wasburn-Moses, & Davis, 2012). In one study, participants reported that their mentors' emotional support and empathy were

intertwined with their instructional and professional support (Israel et al., 2014). Thus, empathy was a vital component of mentoring. The literature also revealed that mentors were more successful when they had the ability to offer long-term, ongoing professional support to teachers (Linder, 2011; Meixia & Carlson, 2013; Polly & Hannafin, 2011; Vale et al., 2010). In a study by Polly and Hannafin (2011), participants noted that the continuous support of the mentor helped them bridge the gap between professional learning and classroom application. The mentor's ability to offer support appeared to influence the effectiveness of the mentoring.

The research about generations and mentorship concluded that mentoring relationships were important to all cohorts (Daloz, 2012; Edge, 2014; Merriweather & Morgan, 2013). However, different generations preferred different communication methods and teaching strategies (Edge, 2014; Gómez and Arias, 2015; Houck, 2011, Merriweather & Morgan, 2013; Zachary, 2012). Boomers preferred face-to-face meetings and phone calls to e-mail and text messages whereas Gen Xers were more tech-savvy with e-mail and preferred short meetings only when the content could not be covered asynchronously (Edge, 2014; Houck, 2011). Interestingly, a study by Gardiner, Grace, and King (2013) found that nearly half of all participants rejected the generational stereotype descriptors as they related to their self-identity. Therefore Gardiner et al. (2013) concluded that mentors might be most effective by building a relationship and understanding the mentee's self-identity rather than relying on Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort descriptors.

Theoretical Foundation

A theoretical framework can be used to provide explanations and predictions of research observations (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015). In this study about mentoring and generational cohorts of STOYs, a theory before research approach was selected. The two theoretical frameworks that were used to guide the study were mentoring theory (Zachary, 2012) and Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory.

Mentoring Theory

In mentoring theory, Zachary (2012) outlined the process of mentoring adult learners to guide their professional growth, specifically in the field of education. Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory highlights the shift from a traditional, mentor-directed transmission of knowledge, to a collaborative, learning-centered model. Based on the principals of adult learning, Zachary (2012) emphasized the role of the mentor as a facilitator of learning through reflection and application. Formal mentors operate through an organization such as a school or business. In formal mentorship programs, the parameters for expectations, timelines, and accountability are usually set by the organization. On the contrary, Zachary described informal mentorship as more naturally occurring and casual, based on the needs of the mentee. The relationship progresses at its own pace and develops its own structure. Zachary noted that both formal and informal mentoring relationships progress through the same learning cycle. The four-phases of the mentoring model include: preparing, negotiating, enabling growth, and closing. The

model is intended to be bidirectional, offering movement both forward and backwards within the cycle, based on the needs of the mentee.

At the onset of a mentoring relationship, Zachary (2012) suggested that the mentor begin with the preparing phase to reflect on his or her own professional journey and to plan for facilitating the journey of another. Zachary noted that the mentor was a facilitator rather than an authority, a key concept in working with adult mentees. During this phase, the mentor works to build a relationship with the mentee through engaging in mentoring conversations and getting to know each other. The conversations provide a context for mentoring such as understanding religious, cultural, social, and generational differences. These open and honest conversations build trust between the mentor and mentee, setting the background of the mentoring relationship.

Once a rapport has been established, Zachary (2012) proposed that mentors might move onto the negotiating phase, or the business agreement, of mentoring. During this phase, a mentor and mentee work to align their thinking about the details of the mentoring relationship. Learning goals, outcomes, timelines, processes, and accountability are negotiated collaboratively. Addressing soft issues such as confidentiality, boundaries, and any sensitive topics during this phase of mentoring will also help to build trust and avoid pitfalls during the next phase of the cycle.

The third part of Zachary's (2012) cycle is the enabling growth phase. It is during this phase that the mentor and mentee work together to meet the learning outcomes through open and honest communication and feedback. Often with numerous setbacks and obstacles, this is the most crucial phase in the cycle. Zachary referenced Daloz's

(2012) three core conditions for facilitating learning as a model for the enabling growth phase. First, the mentor supports learning through managing the relationship (Daloz, 2012; Zachary, 2012). Through listening, maintaining a positive attitude, and providing structure, the mentor encourages a learning environment. Next, both Daloz (2012) and Zachary (2012) suggested that mentors facilitate growth through inspiring forward momentum. Engaging in discussions, setting tasks, and evaluating outcomes collaboratively help the mentee to maintain focus. Finally, the mentor can encourage movement through fostering reflection and checking in with the mentee on a regular basis. Providing constructive feedback will ensure that the mentee's learning goals are met and will enable continued growth.

The final phase of Zachary's (2012) mentoring cycle is closing the learning agreement. During this phase, the learning outcomes are reviewed and the accomplishments are celebrated. Zachary recommended that mentors include a discussion about closure in the initial negotiating phase to plan the end of the mentoring relationship. In formal mentoring programs, closing the relationship is usually determined through an established timeline. However, finding closure in informal mentoring relationships may be more challenging because there is no prescribed end date. Closure could include celebrating the goals that were achieved and outlining the mentee's next steps. When done effectively, closure allows for the mentee to evaluate the learning and provides a readiness to apply it to other areas.

In addition to the mentoring cycle, Zachary (2012) contended that generational typology, or the typical characteristics of each generation, could be used to enhance the

mentoring relationship. For example, Zachary proposed that Baby Boomers are often work-oriented and self-reliant. They are known to be independent thinkers and hold others to high standards. In a mentoring relationship, they want to be both supported and challenged. Zachary suggested that when mentoring Boomers, mentors should praise accomplishments and hard work while providing challenging new opportunities. Also, Baby Boomers would appreciate a tone of respect but not necessarily understand highly technical terms or jargon. By contrast, Zachary characterized Gen Xers as entrepreneurial, productive, and skeptical. As a result, Gen Xers might prefer mentors who are informal yet competent and direct. Zachary recommended that mentors of Gen Xers encourage the mentee to take control of their own learning, avoiding micromanagement, but also providing consistent feedback on their progress. A trusting relationship is important in all mentoring relationships, but specifically to Gen Xers. Zachary's mentoring theory and its focus on generational typology showed a strong connection to Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory.

Various studies have been shown to support and extend Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory (Campbell, Smith, Dugan, & Komives, 2012; Lee et al., 2014). When examining the mentoring relationship as it related to leadership outcomes, Campbell et al. (2012) found that both formal and peer mentors helped their mentees achieve higher outcomes. However, the study specified that this was the case only when the mentor used specific psychosocial mentoring processes, building a strong relationship with the mentee. The Campbell et al. study suggested that Zachary's (2012) mentoring cycle was effective with both formal and informal mentorship relationships.

Another study by Lee et al. (2014) examined Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory as it related to mentoring practices contributing to mentee learning. In their quantitative study, Lee et al. (2014) concluded that the mentoring relationship and the role of the mentor as facilitator or coach were both significant predictors of mentee learning. This study supported Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory as facilitating the self-development of the mentee through the process of active coaching.

In this research I used existing data about official and unofficial mentorship to relate Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory to generational cohorts. The research questions asked how teacher leaders from different cohorts perceived their mentors' level of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support as contributing to their own professional growth. Using the data from this study, Zachary's mentoring theory could be extended to compare Baby Boomers and Gen Xers within the field of mentorship.

Generational Cohort Theory

Another theoretical framework for this study was Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory. According to Mannheim's (1927) seminal work, *The Problem of Generations*, each age group develops a cohort identity through entering adulthood during shared political and historical events. Strauss and Howe (1991) adapted and expanded generational cohort theory to address the cycle of generations based on shared sociological experiences and how these experiences influence common characteristics of group cohorts. According to Strauss and Howe, cohorts are defined by birth year and through their respective placement on the generational cycle. Each generation has a

unique location in history that has enduring, common, and predictable effects on the cohort (Howe & Strauss, 2008).

In their original work, Strauss and Howe (1991) proposed that there are four primary cycles through which each American generation passes during an approximate 20-year period. The generational types reoccur in a fixed order. First, a dominant generation termed the *idealist generation* grows up as indulged youth after a societal crisis. These youth become narcissistic adults but eventually become wise elders, ready to lead the next generation through a new impending crisis. Strauss and Howe noted that the current Baby Boomers, born between 1943 and 1960, are a part of the idealist generation. Having come of age during the 1960s and 1970s, the Boomers were raised with postwar optimism but became known for youth anger and social turmoil. This led to a generation that was both values-obsessed and argumentative.

Later works by Howe and Strauss (2008) expanded on their original theory to extend this thinking about generations to the K-12 educational community. Having grown up in a time of worsening educational outcomes, as Baby Boomers became teachers in the 1980s and 1990s, they brought with them an intense work ethic and the ideology that higher education was a pathway to success. In K-12 schools today, Boomers are the veteran teachers of the schools and most of the administrators. Baby Boomers are more likely than any other generation to view themselves as *workaholics* who felt called to the profession of teaching. In accordance with this philosophy, Boomers often put in extra hours without additional compensation. They are zealous about professional autonomy and independence, preferring to close their classroom doors and work alone. Boomers

often become experts in one area and have a depth of knowledge about their teaching subject or grade level. With their work ethic and ideals, as school leaders the Boomers have created an aggressive agenda of curricular and assessment reforms with the intent of instilling these generational values back into the educational system.

Strauss and Howe (1991) named the next generation in the cycle the *reactive* generation. This cohort grows up as unprotected and criticized youth and become risktaking but alienated adults. Strauss and Howe categorized the 13th generation, another term for Gen Xers, as the reactive generation. Born between 1961 and 1981, the Gen Xers are currently the dominant generation of teachers (Howe & Strauss, 2008). This generation is known for a weaker work ethic but a stronger market ethic. Gen Xers value accountability and productivity over process and principles. As a result, Gen Xers are more comfortable with job-turnover and K-12 reforms such as vouchers, incentive pay, and flexible scheduling. Unlike Baby Boomers, Gen Xers value breadth over depth. This group of teachers is more willing to change teaching assignments, explore new technologies in the classroom, and bring a multidisciplinary approach to teaching. Collaborative work is typical of this cohort who sees the value of a common planning block, team teaching, and being part of a professional learning team. Gen Xers prefer to work smarter, not harder because they view work as a means to enjoy life. The Gen Xers' focus on personal life over career aspirations can sometimes be a source of tension between the Gen X teachers and their Baby Boomer administrators.

The third generation in the cycle is the *civic generation* (Strauss & Howe, 1991). These children are raised by the reactive generation and thus are more protected and

outward fixated. They become adults who build up institutions. These are the current Millennials, born between 1982-2002. The Millennials are just entering the teaching profession as the novice teachers (Howe & Strauss, 2008). Having grown up as protected youth who followed the rules, the Millennial workforce desires to feel protected and special. Unlike the Boomers and Gen Xers who were independent enough to learn through job experience alone, the Millennials want to feel supported as new teachers. They excel with specific feedback and structure. As such, Millennials are amenable to coaching, mentoring, and team teaching. They have a sense of social responsibility and want to make a positive impact in their community, making them a good match for their Baby Boomer administrators.

The final generation in the cycle is the *adaptive generation* (Strauss & Howe, 1991). Dubbed by Howe and Strauss (2008) as the Homeland generation, born after 2003, adaptive generation youth are over-protected and suffocated by their parents due to a secular crisis, namely 9-11. This upbringing will likely create well-behaved, diligent, and imaginative children. In schools, these are the sheltered students who are struggling to be taught and led by independent Gen Xer teachers and Baby Boomer administrators. However, as young adults, the Homeland generation will have a tendency to be naïve, risk-adverse, and conformist. Their adulthood is predicted to be plagued by indecision and may garner less influence than other generations.

Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory has been critiqued in numerous studies (Becton, Walker, & Jones-Farmer, 2014; Gardiner, Grace, & King, 2013; Houck, 2011). In a study by Gardiner et al. (2013), the researchers found that

although participants felt that generational stereotypes were accurate and a valid way to group people in the workplace, the same participants did not self-identify with their own generational cohort characteristics. On the contrary, nearly half of all participants identified most closely with the cohort descriptors of Baby Boomers. Furthermore, less than 25% of Gen Xers and 10% of Millennials identified with their own cohort. This study concluded that Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort descriptors were not congruent with an individual's self-identity.

According to Becton et al. (2014), although not outright refuting generational cohort theory, other researchers have cautioned that developing programs and professional development that cater to generational cohort characteristics may not be the most effective use of time and money. Becton et al. examined how generational differences between Baby Boomers, Gen Xers, and Millennials influenced work place behaviors. The researchers hypothesized that Baby Boomers would have lower job mobility, be more compliant with rules, and be more willing to work overtime as compared with Gen Xers and Millennials. The results indicated that their hypotheses were correct but there was a small effect size. They concluded that differentiating workplace practices for different cohorts could be a waste of resources.

In her study of multigenerational workforce mentoring, Houck (2011) posited that specific concepts from generational cohort theory were vital contributors to successful mentorship. Although generational stereotypes about work ethic and education may vary for individuals within a generation, her research found overwhelming support for each generation's preference for technology use and communication based on age. Having

grown up without modern technology, Baby Boomers preferred mentors who communicated face-to-face and over the phone. Gen Xers and Millennials came of age during a time of increased daily use of technology. Technology has become embedded into how younger generations live. Mentors who differentiated their technology use and communication styles with mentees of different generations were more effective.

Houck's (2011) study validated Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory.

In addition to various studies confirming or refuting Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory, it is important to note that different researchers have defined the generations using a variety of birth years and timelines (Edge, 2014; Gardiner et al., 2013; Holyoke & Larson, 2009; Houck, 2011). For instance, Strauss and Howe's (1991) timeline identified Boomers as born between 1943 and 1960. Other researchers have defined Baby Boomers as born between 1946 to 1964 (Gardiner et al., 2013; Houck, 2011) and 1946 to 1965 (Edge, 2014). The differences in the definition of Gen Xers' birth years were even more pronounced. Strauss and Howe (1991) identified Gen Xers as born between 1961 and 1981. Other researchers defined Gen Xers as born between 1965 to 1976 (Gardiner et al., 2013), 1964 to 1980 (Houck, 2011), 1966 to 1980 (Edge, 2014), and 1960 to 1980 (Holyoke & Larson, 2009). Depending on the definition, a research participant born between 1960-1965 could be a Baby Boomer or Gen Xer. This discrepancy in the overlapping years of the cycle could lead to different research results about generational cohort characteristics.

Rationale for Theoretical Framework

In this dissertation research study about generational cohorts of STOYs and their perceptions of mentoring relationships, the application of Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory offered insights into how Baby Boomers and Gen Xers perceive official and unofficial mentorship, based on the distinct characteristics of the generation. Furthermore, Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory and her emphasis on generational typology expanded the use of generational cohort theory (Strauss & Howe, 1991) to the framework for mentoring relationships. Together, mentoring theory (Zachary, 2012) and generational cohort theory (Strauss & Howe, 1991) provided a solid theoretical foundation for the study.

Literature Review of Key Variables and Concepts

The scholarship on mentoring is robust, covering varied aspects across professional fields (Merriweather & Morgan, 2013). In this literature review I synthesize relevant recent research about effective mentoring relationships and the characteristics of effective mentors. A critical analysis of generations and mentoring, official mentorship, and unofficial mentorship is included. Finally, I discuss current trends in the research and the resulting gaps in the literature.

Effective Mentoring Relationships

Building an effective mentoring relationship was a focal point of the literature (Arora & Rangnekar, 2014; Daloz, 2012, Efron et al., 2012; Howe & Jacobs, 2013; Lieberman & Hanson, 2012; Zachary, 2012). Efron et al. (2012) examined a teacher mentorship program and discussed the influence of relationships. Teachers (mentees)

reported that as they built a trusting relationship with their mentor, they were more likely to ask for help and try new instructional techniques. However, Efron et al. also noted that building relationships takes time and that effective mentorship is ongoing. Furthermore, mentoring relationships were more successful when supported by the school administration and when the roles of both the mentor and the mentee were well defined. Communicating and supporting the context of the mentoring program were noted as successful elements of the program. Based on this study, an official mentor with a defined role might be more successful than an unofficial mentor.

A study by Howe and Jacobs (2013) concurred that successful mentors built strong, collaborative relationships. In their study, educators valued when a mentor provided emotional support, built their confidence, and gave them the opportunity for reflection about professional practice. Teachers reported that their mentors built a sense of community and helped them to solve problems while encouraging professional growth. Similarly, Thomas, Bell, Spelman, and Briody (2015) reported that when mentors used a collaborative approach, engaging teachers as equal partners, the results showed that instructional coaching conversations improved. Interactions changed over time to include more teacher discussions and participation in the professional development activities. In both Howe and Jacobs' (2013) study and Efron et al.'s (2012) study, the mentor built a community of learners in addition to a relationship with the mentee. This created a web of support for the mentees.

In another study, Arora and Rangnekar (2014) examined the role of mentoring relationships and their prediction of career resilience. The researchers used two categories

of mentoring: career and psychosocial. The results of the study indicated that psychosocial mentoring (defined as friendship, role modeling, and acceptance) was a significant predictor of career resilience. On the contrary, career mentoring (offering performance strategies, coaching, and challenging tasks) did not have a significant effect on career resilience. Campbell et al. (2012) cited similar results in their research about what mentoring tasks had a high impact on the development of the mentee. They noted that there was a significant influence on the mentee when mentors focused on psychosocial development, specifically autonomy, interdependence, and a sense of purpose (Campbell et al., 2012, p. 616). Building a trusting relationship as a part of the psychosocial mentoring encourages the continued growth of mentees (Arora & Rangnekar, 2014; Campbell et al., 2012).

Characteristics of Effective Mentors

Researchers concurred that mentors are most effective when they are viewed as credible (Linder et al., 2013; Yang, Hu, Baranik, & Lin, 2013), employ adult learning theory (Edge, 2014; Holyoke & Larson, 2009; Lee et al., 2014; Linder et al., 2013), have specific personality traits (Lee et al., 2014; Linder, 2011; Linder et al., 2013; Polly, 2012; Sayler et al., 2013), and offer ongoing job-embedded support (Linder, 2011; Meixia & Carlson, 2013; Polly & Hannafin, 2011; Vale et al., 2010).

Mentors are effective in helping teachers transform their practice when the mentee views the mentor as credible (Linder et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2013). In a study by Linder et al. (2013), the researchers surveyed over 500 elementary teachers to examine the characteristics of influential elementary math instructional coaches. The results

indicated that the coaches were rated as more credible when they had both content and pedagogical knowledge. When facilitators had either strong content knowledge or teaching knowledge, teachers did not rate them as influential mentors. Primary teachers were also concerned that the coaches understood effective practices for the social, emotional, and developmental needs of young children. Additional research found that mentors who received training to increase their mentorship skills were found to be more credible and more effective at educating their mentees, specifically in career functions (Yang et al., 2013). When mentees view their mentors as credible, they are more willing to apply their mentor's suggestions.

In addition to maintaining credibility, mentors who employ the principles of adult learning are also more successful (Lee et al., 2014; Linder et al., 2013). Linder et al. (2013) reported that participants rated instructional coaches who used management techniques that honored adult learning theory such as facilitation, group work, modeling, and making connections to classroom applications as more effective. A quantitative study by Lee et al. (2014) corroborated these findings. The researchers concluded that mentors who used facilitation techniques to coach their mentees, rather than using a traditional authoritarian approach, were more effective at influencing the learning of the mentees. In both studies, the application of adult learning theory increased the outcomes for the mentees (Lee et al., 2014; Linder et al., 2013).

In a unique study about adult learners and generational cohorts, Holyoke and Larson (2009) found that all generations showed an interest in learning when the teaching modeled adult learning theory. However, their research indicated that Gen Xers were the

most willing to learn on the job. They cited that Gen Xers were highly engaged when they found connections between the materials, their classmates, and their professional applications. Boomers were most interested in learning when the teaching was delivered in a traditional environment but also seen as contributing to their personal growth. These findings were confirmed by Edge (2014) who found that Gen Xers exhibited a strong desire to continued professional learning as compared with their Boomer and Millennial colleagues. When the mentor used adult learning theory to directly connect the new learning to practice, all generations showed an interest in applying the skills (Holyoke & Larson, 2009). This research supported Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory that emphasized the role of the mentor as a facilitator of adult learning through reflection and application.

Adult learners prefer mentors with specific personality traits (Eriksson, 2013; Lee et al., 2014; Linder, 2011; Pogodzinski, 2012; Polly, 2012; Sayler et al., 2013). In a study by Linder (2011), teachers reported on the effective characteristics of mentors: credibility, support, motivation, management/organization, and personality. If the mentors were missing any of the five traits, they were viewed as ineffective overall. Teachers reported that mentors were more effective when they exhibited specific personality traits such as being friendly, outgoing, calm, humorous, and relaxed. On the contrary, the research showed a negative reaction to other personality traits such as being rude, arrogant, and opinionated. Lee et al. (2014) also affirmed that trust, empathy, and mutuality were significantly beneficial to the mentee.

Personality alignment between the mentor and mentee, a key dependent variable in this study, was also found to be beneficial to the mentoring relationship (Eriksson, 2013; Pogodzinski, 2012). Eriksson's (2013) qualitative study found that "a mismatch in personal chemistry and attitudes" (p. 278) between the mentor and mentee led to numerous obstacles throughout the term of mentorship. Another study showed that when mentors were aligned with their mentees, the mentees were more likely to interact with the mentors on a regular basis and across all topics (Pogodzinski, 2012). Effective mentors practice supportive, knowledgeable, and humble mentorship.

The mentor's ability to offer support to the mentee was another dependent variable in this research study. Researchers concurred that emotional support and empathy for the mentee contribute to the effectiveness of mentorship (Efron et al. 2012; Israel et al., 2014; Linder, 2011; Pogodzinski, 2012; Wasburn et al., 2012). Linder (2011) reported that elementary math teachers were more willing to change their practices when they felt like their formal mentor was there to support their growth through active listening and encouragement during meetings and in follow-up encounters. These findings concurred with Israel et al.'s (2014) examination of mentorship in special education. Participants reported that the mentor's emotional support, specifically their level of empathy to understand difficulties, was interwoven into instructional and professional assistance. In the mentoring model studied by Efron et al. (2012), the mentors worked diligently to gain the trust and confidence of the mentees. "The emotional support the mentors offered to the teachers and the confidence the teacher felt toward them enabled the mentors to provide positive feedback as well as constructive

criticism" (Efron et al., 2012, p. 345). In all three studies, changes in practice occurred as a result of the combination of emotional and professional supports.

In studies comparing formal and informal mentorship, research indicated that novice teachers viewed emotional support as a key component of all types of mentorship (Pogodzinski, 2012; Wasburn et al., 2012). One study found that there was no statistical difference between the emotional support offered by informal mentors as compared to formal mentors (Wasburn et al., 2012). The participants felt that both formal and informal mentors offered similar emotional support structures. Yet, Pogodzinski's (2012) mixed method study yielded contrary findings. In this study, novice teachers reported that the emotional support of their peer mentors was more important than the support they received from their formally assigned mentors. The difference was statistically significant for teachers at the elementary and middle school levels. More notably, the emphasis of emotional support from informal mentors over formal mentors maintained for the first three years of teaching. Although the literature had varying results when comparing the levels of emotional support from informal and formal mentors, it was conclusive that emotional support was a necessary component of all mentoring.

In addition to emotional support, successful mentors offer long-term, ongoing professional support to teachers (Linder, 2011; Meixia & Carlson, 2013; Polly & Hannafin, 2011; Vale et al., 2010). Teachers who received ongoing support in the form of coteaching, professional dialogues, or reflections were more likely to try new methods and adapt their practices (Linder, 2011). In an examination of elementary math instruction, participants categorized the ongoing support of the mentor as a major factor

contributing to their changes in instructional practice (Linder, 2011, p. 57). The participants recalled experiences where they implemented a new teaching strategy because they felt confident that their mentor would provide support. Vale et al. (2010) affirmed this when gathering data about instructional coaches in an elementary setting. The coaches remarked that job-embedded professional learning was "an effective model that will gain strength over time as teachers who are feeling inundated are starting to see it as support rather than an imposition...as profitable and practical" (p. 65). In another study, teachers were more successful with integrating new methods into instruction when given job-embedded guided practice in lesson design and delivery (Meixia & Carlson, 2013, p. 382). Polly and Hannafin (2011) also discovered that when mentors offered continuous support, this provided scaffolding for the transition between teachers learning about new techniques and implementing the new pedagogies with students. Mentors who commit to a long-term support of the mentee help the mentee become more successful in the classroom.

Generations and Mentoring

The literature about mentoring different generations was extensive. Zachary (2012) described how to mentor adults effectively, including intergenerational understanding. Zachary proposed that Baby Boomers, born between 1943 and 1960, are known for their work ethic, linking their self-worth to the quantity and quality of their accomplishments. Boomers also regard those in authority with respect (Edge, 2014; Zachary, 2012). A study that focuses on generational differences and mentorship might find that Boomers prefer working with an official mentor compared with an unofficial

mentor. Conversely, Zachary (2012) noted that Gen Xers, born between 1961 and 1981, are regarded as entrepreneurial and individual, maintaining a general distrust of authority. This generation prefers freedom, flexibility, and informal structures to traditional workplace constructs (Edge, 2014). Thus, an unofficial mentoring relationship might prove most beneficial to this generational cohort.

Just as the literature on mentoring relationships confirmed, the literature within generational mentoring also cited that the most effective mentors build relationships and foster open communication (Daloz, 2012; Edge, 2014; Merriweather & Morgan, 2013). Edge (2014) found that Gen Xers and Millennials tended to have less trust in their workplace than Baby Boomers who displayed higher levels of relational trust. As a result, she recommended that school leaders consider ways to build a climate of intergenerational trust within the school culture. Merriweather and Morgan (2013) described the challenges and opportunities with intergenerational mentorship and the balance of power that comes with undefined mentorship roles. When the mentor relies on cultural or generational stereotypes rather than taking time to understand the mentee's perspective, the mentoring relationship can be negatively affected. However, this can be counteracted with other cultural connections such as shared experiences, gender connections, and life style choices.

The results of another study of generations in the workplace concurred that emphasizing generational cohort descriptors over individual needs could have a negative impact. After researching generations in the workforce, Becton et al. (2014) warned against "treating employees simply as members of generations, ignoring the fact that

other individual differences likely play a more prominent role in workplace behaviors than generational differences" (p.185). The researchers noted that although there were some common characteristics of generational behaviors in the workplace, the time and money spent by human resources to meet the needs of each generation might be more effectively used to design professional development activities that are flexible enough to meet the needs of individuals. Although some researchers found that individual differences were more prominent than generational differences, other researchers came to the opposite conclusion.

Additional studies suggested that mentoring different generations requires different communication methods and teaching strategies (Edge, 2014; Gómez and Arias, 2015; Houck, 2011, Merriweather & Morgan, 2013; Zachary, 2012). Gómez and Arias (2015) found that mentors who could not effectively communicate with their mentee did not help the mentee change instructional practices. In the workplace, both Houck (2011) and Edge (2014) found that Boomers preferred face-to-face meetings and phone calls to asynchronous communications such as e-mail and text messages. Gen Xers were described as more tech-savvy with e-mail and preferred short structured meetings only when the content could not be covered asynchronously. Houck (2011) proposed that mentorship programs tailor their communication use to meet the preferred style of each generation when possible. Additionally, Houck (2011) and Edge (2014) both recommended two-way mentoring that allows the Boomers and Gen Xers to share their work experience with Millennials but also allows Millennials to help the older generations adapt their technology habits to the current practices. This two-way

mentorship honors the expertise of each generation and acknowledges the value of a multigenerational workforce.

Research about generational cohort identity and age group identity also plays a role within mentoring relationships (Weis & Lang, 2012; Zachary, 2012). Weiss and Lang's (2012) research showed that age-group identity was more likely to be negative, including feelings of loss and decline. That is, as people aged, they related to their physical age group negatively, focusing on how their age has limited their ability. On the contrary, generation identity was characterized by positive attributes and a sense of social group affiliation. For example, Baby Boomers noted pride in their work ethic and sense of morality. In mentoring relationships, generational cohort identification can be a strong indicator to the mentor about how to work successfully with the mentee (Zachary, 2012).

In a different study, Gardiner et al. (2013) examined the congruency between the traditional generational cohort descriptors and each generation's self-identity. Unlike Weiss and Lang (2012), Gardiner et al. (2013) found that between 18 and 25% of all respondents identified more with another cohort as compared with their own. Overall, 40% of Millennials and Gen Xers identified themselves as matching the Baby Boomer profile. The researchers also reported that, even with the mismatch, participants believed that using generational typology to group people was generally effective. However, participants rejected the generational stereotypes as they related to their self-identity. These results aligned with Daloz (2012) who proposed that different generations may not respond to traditional mentorship techniques and that a trusting relationship with opencommunication would foster a more effective mentoring relationship.

Taken together, the literature implies that although educational mentorship might benefit from using differentiated techniques with each generation, mentors might be most effective by building a relationship with the mentee and understanding the mentee's self-identity rather than relying on Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort descriptors.

Official Mentorship in Education

Official mentors in a school setting might be given the title of mentor, instructional coach, specialist, or instructional leader (Bynum, 2015; Hull & Balka, 2009). The research on formal mentorship within the field of teaching and learning is abundant. Formal mentors provide psychosocial support and work with mentees to transform instructional practice (Desimone et al., 2014; Eriksson, 2013; Israel et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012; Wasburn et al., 2012). Furthermore, specific coaching activities such as coplanning, facilitating professional learning teams, and coteaching lessons lead to changes in teacher practice and gains in student achievement (Chval et al., 2010; Jong et al., 2010; Linder, 2012; Hull & Balka, 2009). Unlike the other themes in the literature, researchers disagree about the role of mentors as evaluators (Israel et al., 2014; Polly, 2012; Sayler et al., 2013).

In support of Zachary's (2012) mentoring model, researchers concur that formal mentorship follows a structure and provides a combination of emotional and professional support (Desimone et al., 2014; Eriksson, 2013; Israel et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012; Wasburn et al., 2012). In Wasburn et al.'s (2012) review of a special education mentoring program, the mentees reported that mentors provided emotional support, professional advice, encouragement, and confidence. Likewise, the mentors successfully assisted

teachers with classroom management, instructional techniques, and implementing the curriculum. Wasburn et al. reported that the "formal mentoring roles encompassed both what teachers say they want (assistance with classroom management, emotional support) and what researchers believe they need to improve their practice (curriculum implementation)" (p. 64). According to the mentees, the structures that were embedded into the formal mentorship program, including goal setting, observations, and feedback, were reported as time consuming but yielded positive results in their professional practice. Additional studies found that emotional support, coupled with direct professional advice, eased the application of new strategies into classroom practice (Desimone et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012). Mentees relied on their formal mentors for support with curriculum, teaching strategies, observations, feedback, and student behavior, especially in the beginning of the year. The formal structures of the mentoring meetings such as timelines, goals, observations, and roles, provided an outline for the mentoring process.

In a qualitative examination of a formal group-mentoring model, Eriksson (2013) also noted that the organization of the model could influence the success of the mentorship. Participants in this study noted that they were frustrated when some mentors used an undefined structure or had poor communication skills. Other negative aspects of the mentoring included a lack of differentiation to meet the mentee's needs and a misalignment in personalities. Conversely, mentors who used the principles of adult learning, as recommended by Zachary (2012) and Daloz (2012), were rated more positively. These mentors consulted the mentees to coplan the mentoring discussions,

foster reflection, and keep an open dialogue (Eriksson, 2013). Formal mentorship programs with structures in place were viewed as most effective.

In addition to the organizational supports for mentorship, formal coaching activities such as coplanning, facilitating professional learning teams, and coteaching lessons have been shown to influence teacher practice (Chval et al., 2010; Israel et al., 2014; Jong et al., 2010; Linder, 2012; Hull & Balka, 2009). Polly and Hannafin (2011) found that coplanning lessons with a mentor or an instructional coach led to higher level student engagement and student-centered pedagogies compared to when teachers planned lessons independently (p. 128). The researchers found that independently planned lessons were lacking the forethought and attention to details needed to successfully implement the planned activities. When the same lesson outline (sequence of activities) was planned, teachers who collaboratively planned the lesson with a mentor were more likely to include student-centered techniques, such as the use of concrete materials and student social interaction. Furthermore, the gap between the espoused practice (intended lesson) and the enacted practice (actual lesson taught) was minimized (Israel et al., 2014; Polly & Hannafin, 2011). Teachers who planned with a mentor were more successful at implementing sound instructional techniques.

The professional learning team experience can be enhanced when a mentor or an instructional coach is facilitating the conversations and helping teachers to focus on student-centered instruction (DuFour, 2010, Harbin & Newton, 2013; Israel et al., 2014; Vale et al., 2010). By definition, a professional learning team is an "ongoing process in which educators work collaboratively in recurring cycles of collective inquiry and action

research to achieve better results for the students they serve" (DuFour, 2010, p. 11). Together, educators study curriculum, instruction, and assessment and determine the most successful practices to achieve results. Based on data and research, teachers determine the scope and sequence of instruction, coplan lessons, write common formative assessments, and review the results. Within the setting of a professional learning team, mentors clarify what good instruction looks like and present the research behind best practices (Harbin & Newton, 2013; Israel et al., 2014). These professional dialogues about instruction help teachers connect theory with practice (Eriksson, 2013; Harbin & Newton, 2013; Wasburn et al., 2012). Vale et al. (2010) also found that when coaches engaged with professional learning teams, encouraging collaborative planning and supporting teachers' mathematical content knowledge and instructional practice, improved student learning occurred (p. 64). The mentoring model (Zachary, 2012) and the professional learning team model (DuFour & Eaker, 1998) are complementary methods of helping teachers to improve their practice through structured reflection and goal setting.

There were disagreements in the literature about whether or not mentors could be effective if they were also serving in the role of evaluator (Israel et al., 2014; Polly, 2012; Sayler et al., 2013). In many mentoring and coaching models, the mentors worked diligently to earn the trust of the mentees (Efron et al., 2012; Polly, 2012; Sayler et al., 2013). For instance, in Efron et al.'s (2012) study, mentors "reported that they intensively invested time and energy to overcome teachers' anxiety and suspicion by making the mentoring experience a safe place built on confidence and trust" (p. 345). The mentors

assisted the teachers whereas the administrators evaluated teachers. The separation of mentor and evaluator built trust between the mentor and mentee. Similarly, in Sayler et al.'s (2013) study, the student-centered coaching model ensured that the teacher and coach were collaborators, working to meet the needs of the teacher and students simultaneously, rather than the coach assuming the role of evaluator or expert. Polly's (2012) research also noted that effective mentors were viewed as supporters and leaders of teachers, not evaluators of teachers. In a unique study by Israel et al. (2014), the mentors served as the evaluators of teachers as well. The teacher mentees expressed variable levels of comfort with the dual role of the mentor as evaluator, ranging from ambivalence to discomfort. In the end, all mentees in the study rated the mentoring as effective at improving their instructional practices.

Official mentorship programs are defined by their structures and outcomes (Zachary, 2012). Instructional coaches, formal mentors, and curricular specialists could all serve teachers in this official capacity (Bynum, 2015; Hull & Balka, 2009). As a generation, it may be more likely that Baby Boomers, with their respect for authority, strong work ethic, and desire to achieve, find official mentorship as more desirable than unofficial mentorship (Zachary, 2012). Furthermore, an examination of informal mentorship trends might align better with the Gen X teachers who prefer a less prescribed and more flexible style of professional learning.

Unofficial Mentorship in Education

Unofficial or informal mentoring in education is a vital source of support for novice teachers (Bynum, 2015; Desimone et al., 2014). In contrast to a formal mentorship

program that is developed by an organization, informal mentoring develops spontaneously and naturally based on the learning needs of the mentee (Bynum, 2015). Unofficial mentorship is self-directed and less structured than formal mentorship and may grow organically from job-embedded learning structures (Bynum, 2015; Preston, Ogenchuk, & Nsiah, 2014). The literature about informal mentoring centered around three main points. First, researchers found that job-embedded learning such as professional learning teams (McConnell, Parker, Eberhardt, Koehler, & Lundeberg, 2013; Thessin, 2015; Williams, Brien, & LeBlanc, 2012) and lesson studies (Sayler et al., 2013) naturally contributed to peer mentorship. Second, informal mentoring was emotionally and professionally beneficial to educators (Desimone et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012; Preston et al., 2014; Wasburn et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2013). Finally, multiple studies recommended organizational mentorship training for all teachers who engage in informal mentoring (Desimone et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012; Wasburn et al., 2012).

Just as official mentors serve in a variety of leadership roles, unofficial mentors are often teacher leaders who take on additional responsibilities but without a prescribed title (Bynum, 2015). A common practice for unofficial mentors is to facilitate professional learning teams, assisting their colleagues with analyzing student work and sharing effective practices (McConnell et al., 2013; Thessin, 2015; Williams et al., 2012). In a study comparing virtual and face-to-face professional learning teams, McConnell et al. (2013) found that both formats of learning contributed to peer mentorship. The teachers noted that participation in the learning team increased their professional discourse and sharing and led to stronger professional relationships. Similarly, Thessin's

(2015) examination of effective professional learning teams found that collaborative school cultures were a vital prerequisite to learning teams. When all teachers, not just the lead facilitators, were trained on the professional learning team process, the team became more effective at influencing student achievement. Through informal mentorship within the professional learning team model, teachers assisted their colleagues with instructional decisions through coplanning and data analysis.

In a study involving over 50 schools, Williams et al. (2012) had similar findings while reviewing the attributes of professional learning teams that effectively transformed teacher practice. The researchers determined that job-embedded mentoring and advice sharing increased when a mentor supported the learning teams and this led to a heightened use of best practices. Eighty percent of teachers reported that their work with their colleagues (informal mentorship) supported their professional growth whereas only 38% of teachers perceived their schools' official mentorship program as contributing to teachers' growth. Furthermore, Williams et al. concluded that shared leadership about pedagogical and policy matters built teacher leadership capacity and strengthened the professional learning of colleagues. In all three studies (McConnell et al., 2013; Thessin, 2015; Williams et al., 2012), teachers noted that the peer mentorship grew naturally from professional learning teams and was a key factor in encouraging best practices in the classroom through fostering professional growth.

Lesson studies, another collaborative learning experience facilitated by peer leaders, have also been shown to help educators improve their instructional practices (Sayler et al., 2013). In Sayler et al.'s review of South Dakota's Project PRIME, teacher

leaders facilitated lesson studies through a process referred to as the Learning Lab Initiative. Learning Lab teams on each grade level met monthly to follow the lesson study cycle of planning, teaching, observing, and reflecting. After a lesson was planned together, a classroom teacher would agree to host the lesson while the other team members observed. Project PRIME participants commented that the Learning Labs were beneficial because they allowed teachers to observe student learning and instructional practices in the classrooms of their peers and then reflect on the experience as it pertained to their own practice. The teachers had the opportunity to engage in two-way peer mentorship. According to Sayler et al., the peer mentoring embedded into the Learning Labs provided teachers the feedback and ongoing support they needed to implement changes to their practice. Lesson studies and professional learning teams are both structures that support the process of informal mentorship leading to changes in teacher practice.

Researchers have also examined the benefits of informal mentorship within the field of education (Bynum, 2015; Desimone et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012; Preston et al., 2014; Wasburn et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2013). Their findings revealed three main benefits of informal mentorship as compared with formal mentorship: interpersonal attraction, emotional support, and consistency of support. An unofficial mentoring relationship grows naturally based on the needs of the mentee and the desire of the mentor to offer assistance (Bynum, 2015; Preston et al., 2014). This interpersonal attraction can create a strong mentoring bond. Several studies have concluded that the mentor and mentee are better aligned when the relationship was not officially assigned

but self-selected (Desimone et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012; Preston et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2013). In Desimone et al.'s (2014) study of 57 novice mathematics teachers, participants reported that they chose informal mentors based on their perceptions that they shared complementary personality traits. These similar characteristics fostered trust and confidence in the relationship. Another study of novice teachers indicated that mentees who were aligned with their informal mentors interacted more frequently across all mentoring topics (Pogodzinski, 2012). "The level of shared goals, shared values, similar preferences for work climate...between novices and their mentors affects the extent of socialization including impacts on both practice and retention" (Pogodzinski, 2012, p. 986.) The mentees felt more comfortable conversing with their informal mentors when they could identify with them. The alignment of the personality of the mentor and mentee was another key variable in this dissertation study. This research would suggest that personality alignment is more likely found in unofficial mentoring relationships.

Informal mentorship provides interpersonal comfort based on a mutual attraction (Preston et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2013). In Yang et al.'s (2013) study, research indicated that when both the mentee and mentor were interested in the mentoring relationship, the relationship became symbiotic. The mentee would seek out the informal mentor for advice and then express gratitude after successfully implementing new techniques in the classroom. This reinforcing feedback led to more frequent interactions between the mentor and mentee, strengthening the informal bond. Both parties saw a benefit from the mentoring relationship. This study was later supported by Preston et al. (2014) when they

determined that the role of the mentor and mentee could become blurred, allowing both people in the mentoring relationship to act as a learner and teacher based on their skills and ability. Informal mentoring was advantageous to both the mentor and mentee.

Another benefit of unofficial mentorship is emotional support (Desimone et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012; Wasburn et al., 2012), a key variable in this dissertation study. In Desimone et al.'s (2014) study of mathematics mentoring, mentees reported that they were over twice as likely to receive emotional support from their informal mentors as compared to their formal mentors. Furthermore, the mentees noted that they could be emotionally vulnerable with their peer mentors because they were unconcerned about accountability and evaluation. Other studies also found that mentees relied on their informal mentors for emotional support such as encouragement, increasing their teaching confidence, and general advice giving (Pogodzinski, 2012; Wasburn et al., 2012). In a study comparing formal and informal mentorship during teacher induction, Pogodzinski (2012) concluded that novice educators interacted with their peers more for psychosocial support. The mentees also ranked the support from their unofficial mentors as more important than the support they received from their official mentors. This research suggested that informal mentorship could be considered a vital component of professional development for educators.

The consistency of support that is provided to the mentees is another benefit of peer mentorship (Desimone et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012; Preston et al., 2014; Wasburn et al., 2012) and a key variable within this dissertation study. Research indicated that informal mentors interacted more often with their mentees as compared to

official mentors (Desimone et al., 2014; Preston et al., 2014). Novice teachers in one study reported that they worked with their informal mentor more often because they were easily accessible (Desimone et al., 2014). The mentees relied on their colleagues for immediate support with setting expectations, parental involvement, and emotional support. Nearly half of the participants responded that they sought out their informal mentor because they were close by and consistently available. Preston et al.'s (2014) research concurred with Desimone et al. (2014). In Preston et al. 's (2014) qualitative study of peer mentorship, participants reported that the logistics of informal mentorship were key contributors to the success of the mentoring. Specifically, the mentees noted the benefits of timing, proximity, and flexibility with regards to interacting with their unofficial mentors. Participants in Pogodzinski's (2012) research also commented on how informal mentors were consistently available. The mentees cited the support of their peer mentors to help them integrate the norms, policies, and values of the school that were often shared by the formal mentor. The informal mentors bridged the gap between policy and practice. However, one study reported that, although novice teachers showed a preference for informal mentors, the research on outcomes did not support their preference (Wasburn et al., 2012). In this contrasting research, the formal mentors actually provided more consistent support than the informal mentors. These differences, although not further addressed in the research, could be attributed to the quality of the formal mentoring program based on the training and socialization of mentors.

Numerous studies recommended organizational mentorship training for all teachers who engage in informal mentoring (Desimone et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012;

Wasburn et al., 2012). When discussing the results of their study of formal and informal mentorship with novice teachers, Desimone et al. (2014) suggested that the formal mentoring programs monitor the activities and interactions of informal mentors to design a complementary program. "Integrating the role of informal mentors into the array of induction supports is consistent with the idea of developing a more coherent system of supports for teachers across teacher education, induction, and professional development" (Desimone et al., 2014, p. 103). Pogodzinski (2012) also recommended that teacher leaders and administrators plan a more consistent level of socialization and support for novice teachers through fostering professional development within informal mentoring relationships. Training for informal mentors could offer guidance about how mentorship could improve teacher practice through crucial support structures such as observation and feedback (Wasburn et al., 2012). Through training formal and informal mentors, an organization could maximize the potential of both types of mentoring relationships.

Research Trends

The literature and research about generations, official mentorship, and unofficial mentorship was abundant. Within the literature, recurring themes surfaced such as the importance of a strong mentoring relationship and the characteristics of effective mentors. Other themes discussed in this literature review included how different generations perceive mentorship, and how support structures such as professional learning teams could enhance the mentoring relationship. Through an extensive review of the current literature, research trends in the field of generations and mentoring also emerged.

The research about generations and mentorship was evenly dispersed between quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. However, on a more detailed examination, trends about the content of the studies became apparent. Both quantitative and qualitative research about mentoring often reviewed specific programs with a small participant base (Efron et al., 2012; Eriksson, 2013; Howe & Jacobs, 2013; Israel et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2014; Preston et al., 2014; Sayler et al., 2013; Thomas et al., 2015). Also, research within the field of educational mentorship focused on teacher induction (Desimone et al., 2014; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011; Israel et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012).

Researchers who examined single mentorship programs often selected a qualitative approach (Efron et al., 2012; Eriksson, 2013; Howe & Jacobs, 2013; Israel et al., 2014; Preston et al., 2014). Open-ended questionnaires and narrative journal analysis were common data collection methods. In Efron et al.'s (2012) study of the Teacher Mentoring for Growth program, ten teachers, four mentors, and seven administrators completed naturalistic questionnaires every 6 months. The researchers analyzed the written responses for themes to describe the mentoring process, mentoring relationships, and the impact of mentorship on teachers' professional practice. Similarly, Eriksson's (2013) review of a group mentorship model gathered data from 103 participants' written responses to four prompts. These prompts were intended to initiate a narrative about how the mentoring program contributed to the mentee's professional growth and classroom practice. Written journals were also analyzed in the Howe and Jacobs (2013) study. However, Howe and Jacobs examined the mentorship program through the lens of the three mentors who reflected on how their participation in the program influenced the

classroom practice of the ten mentees. In a study on peer mentorship, Preston et al. (2014) used narrative inquiry to describe how the dual role of mentor and mentee contributed to positive change for ten peer mentors. In each study, researchers focused on describing the experiences and perceptions of the participants rather than collecting quantifiable data about the mentorship programs.

Within the trend of program evaluation, some researchers did select a quantitative approach (Lee et al., 2014; Sayler et al., 2013; Thomas et al., 2015). In a study designed to correlate mentoring processes and mentee learning outcomes, Lee et al. (2014) used a survey to measure the knowledge, skills, and attitudes of the mentees. Although there were 90 participants in this Malaysian mentorship study, Lee et al. noted that their research was specific to the culture and did not take into account cultural and social norms. Thomas et al. (2015) also selected quantitative methods to review an instructional coaching program that spanned three years. The program included professional development workshops for teachers, coteaching sessions with coaches, and weekly coaching meetings. In their program evaluation, the researchers used an instructional coaching scale to determine how coaching conversations influenced teacher practice at five elementary schools. Results indicated that the teachers and their mentors moved from implementation conversations to discussing classroom practice over the 3-year period. Both Lee et al. (2014) and Thomas et al. (2015) cautioned that their studies were limited to the specific programs under review.

Another program evaluation was Sayler et al.'s (2013) review of Project PRIME, a math achievement initiative in South Dakota. This 10-year longitudinal study included

an outline of effective teaching practices and the professional development activities that supported teachers to gain the skills necessary for reform-based math instruction. Each component of Project PRIME was evaluated including professional development workshops, graduate coursework, lesson studies, instructional coaching, and administrator training. The longitudinal data from the first seven years was used to modify the last three years of Project PRIME's implementation to meet the needs of middle school teachers. Over 400 surveys from instructional coaches, mentors, teachers, and administrators were analyzed as part of the review. Student achievement data from 14,500 students was also collected to show student growth in mathematics. Although the review showed that Project PRIME was successful at increasing students' math outcomes and influencing teacher practice, the results of the study were specific to Project PRIME. In both the qualitative and quantitative studies, since each mentorship program was based on different parameters, the studies were neither reproducible nor generalizable to other contexts.

Another research trend within the literature was to examine mentorship during teacher induction (Desimone et al., 2014; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011; Israel et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012). Teacher induction includes the support, guidance, and orientation of beginning teachers to the profession of teaching or to the school site (Ingersoll & Strong, 2011). In their review of the literature, Ingersoll and Strong (2011) reported that within the last two decades, teacher induction research has shown that new teachers are more likely to report job satisfaction and to continue teaching when a mentor supports them. Moreover, teachers who participated in mentorship programs during teacher induction

also developed stronger classroom management skills and their students scored higher on achievement tests.

In a 5-year, mixed methods, longitudinal study comparing formal and informal mentorship during teacher induction, Desimone et al. (2014) concluded that beginning teachers relied on formal mentors and informal mentors differently. Official mentors supported new teachers with observations, feedback, and policies. Mentees also relied on formal mentors for advice about classroom management and content specific pedagogies. Informal mentors, however, were more likely to offer emotional support and advice about students. Moreover, mentees interacted more with their mentors when they were well matched with grade level and content areas. As a result of the study, Desimone et al. recommended that school districts include both formal and informal mentorship training to their experienced staff members as part of their professional development programs.

Other studies about mentorship during teacher induction concurred with

Desimone et al.'s (2014) conclusion. In a mixed methods study reviewing formal

mentoring across the Midwest, Pogodzinski (2012) found that mentees interacted with
their mentors most frequently about student behavior, curriculum, and teaching strategies.

The interactions also increased in frequency when the mentee felt that the mentor was
well aligned by grades or subjects. Mentees also reported that they interacted more with
their close colleagues for psychosocial support. The mentees also rated their peer support
as more important than the support they received from official mentors. Like the

Desimone et al. (2014) results, Pogodzinski's (2012) research indicated that districts

might benefit from including both formal and informal mentorship training within their support structures for new teachers.

In a qualitative study about formal mentorship during teacher induction, Israel et al. (2014) found that formal mentors used evaluative criteria during observations to help their mentees improve. These observations and feedback, although designed to support changes in classroom practice, were noted by the mentees as psychosocial support as well. Emotional and professional supports were interrelated. Israel et al. also recommended that future research include studying the variables about mentor and mentee characteristics. Furthermore, the researchers noted that this study was limited to the mentoring program under review and suggested that additional research be conducted to broaden the scope of the findings. Based on the research trends in the literature and the recommendations for future research, gaps in the current literature emerged.

Gaps in the Literature

An extensive review of the literature indicated gaps in two main areas. First, although there was a great deal of research about mentorship, a large portion of the empirical evidence about teacher mentorship has been specific to school programs or district initiatives, creating data that may not be generalizable to other contexts (Efron et al., 2012; Eriksson, 2013; Howe & Jacobs, 2013; Israel et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2014; Preston et al., 2014; Sayler et al., 2013; Thomas et al., 2015). Also, the current literature on STOYs was limited to a handful of published studies (Bosso, 2014). No studies were found in the online database search engines. NNSTOY is beginning to research this population of award-winning educators, but the scientific studies were still limited.

Furthermore, no studies could be found that specifically addressed how K-12 STOYs from different generations perceived official and unofficial mentorship. This dissertation research study addressed the gaps in the literature through using a broader scope of participants (STOYs from across the United States) rather than reviewing a specific mentoring program. Also, the research provided data about the understudied population of STOYs, offering a unique perspective on how different generations of successful teacher leaders perceived the nature of official and unofficial mentoring relationships.

Summary

The literature suggested that mentoring was most successful when mentors considered adult learning theory, built solid relationships, and had specific personality traits (Arora & Rangnekar, 2014; Daloz, 2012; Edge, 2014; Efron et al., 2012; Eriksson, 2013; Holyoke & Larson, 2009; Howe & Jacobs, 2013; Lee et al., 2014; Lieberman & Hanson, 2012; Linder, 2011; Linder et al., 2013; Pogodzinski, 2012; Polly, 2012; Sayler et al., 2013; Zachary, 2012). Personality alignment between the mentor and mentee, empathy, and the ability to offer professional support were all deemed as vital to impacting the success of the mentoring relationship (Efron et al. 2012; Eriksson, 2013; Israel et al., 2014; Linder, 2011; Meixia & Carlson, 2013; Pogodzinski, 2012; Polly & Hannafin, 2011; Vale et al., 2010; Wasburn et al., 2012). Additionally, the research on generations and mentoring concluded that different generations might respond more favorably to different methods of communication, specifically when new technologies were used (Edge, 2014; Gómez and Arias, 2015; Houck, 2011, Merriweather & Morgan, 2013; Zachary, 2012).

Although the literature was well balanced with regards to methodologies, two main research trends were apparent. First, numerous studies were program evaluations with a small scope of participants (Efron et al., 2012; Eriksson, 2013; Howe & Jacobs, 2013; Israel et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2014; Preston et al., 2014; Sayler et al., 2013; Thomas et al., 2015). Also, the literature on mentorship focused on teacher induction (Desimone et al., 2014; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011; Israel et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012). What was unclear in the research was how different generational cohorts of teacher leaders throughout the United States perceived the importance of personality alignment, empathy, and the mentor's ability to offer support. No studies were found that focused on each generation of teachers and their preference for official or unofficial mentorship. Furthermore, there were no studies available that highlighted the population of STOYs and their perceptions of mentorship.

This study was expected to contribute to the current body of knowledge about mentorship and generations through providing new insights into how STOYs perceived the attributes of both official and unofficial mentors as contributing to their professional growth. Schools and districts could use the results of the study to design more effective mentorship programs that positively impact classroom practice. When teachers are supported in their professional growth, students benefit from instruction that meets their needs.

In Chapter 3, I discuss the research questions and present the hypotheses. The research design, rationale, and methodology that were used in the study are also presented.

Chapter 3: Research Method

This quantitative, causal-comparative study relied on existing data from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). The purpose was to examine how STOY Baby Boomers and Gen Xers perceived specific attributes of official and unofficial mentorship. Strauss and Howe's generational cohort theory and Zachary's mentoring theory provided the theoretical foundation. The results of this study could be used to design mentorship programs that are better able to meet the professional learning needs of teachers from different generational cohorts. More effective mentorship could lead to more effective teaching practices, thus impacting educational outcomes in K-12 classrooms.

Chapter 3 includes a discussion of the research design and rationale, research questions and hypotheses, and an in-depth examination of the research methodology. In the methodology section, I explain the sampling population, data collection procedures, and the method of data analysis. I also provide a detailed description of the threats to validity and ethical considerations for the study.

Research Design and Rationale

The research design of the study was quantitative because the purpose of the study was to examine the difference between two groups of the independent variable using a research instrument that produces data for statistical analysis (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015). A quantitative approach is appropriate when the research involves using a deductive approach to examine numerical data. Furthermore, only a quantitative approach to research can be used to infer that there are significant differences

between two groups (Patten, 2004; Trochim, 2006). Qualitative and mixed method research approaches were not seen as appropriate for this study because the intent was neither to explore a phenomenon nor understand an individual perspective using inductive reasoning (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015).

This study was a secondary analysis of data collected from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014); it used a cross-sectional survey design. To answer the research questions thoroughly, the study was nonexperimental and causal-comparative. The latter design is used to compare two groups with one independent variable (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Trochim, 2006). This design aligned with the purpose of the study because, by disaggregating the data by generational cohort, I compared Baby Boomers to Gen Xers to determine if there were differences in perceived attributes of official and unofficial mentorship based on their cohort.

The primary independent variable was the generational cohorts. The two groups of this independent variable in the study were Baby Boomers and Gen Xers. A second independent variable—which is discussed in more detail below—was mentor status, also categorized into two groups: official and unofficial. The dependent variables were selected from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) and included the three qualities that the mentee (STOY) attributed to increasing his or her effectiveness as an educator: the official and unofficial mentors' (a) levels of empathy, (b) alignment to the personality of the mentee, and (c) the mentors' ability to offer support. These responses were rated on a Likert-type scale, from 1 (*not at all important*) to 5 (*very important*), making them interval-dependent variables.

The use of existing data in this study had several advantages. According to Frankfort-Nachmias and Nachmias (2015), using existing data saves both time and money. In the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014), some of the data were already in the public domain and permission was granted to provide access to the de-identified datasets as well. No additional time or money was spent to collect the data. A methodological advantage of using secondary analysis for this study was to expand the depth and breadth of the original study (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015). NNSTOY and their research partners showed an interest in the study and offered to support the use of its data based on the premise that the research would be mutually beneficial. The results of this secondary analysis add value to the original dataset.

A challenge to the use of existing data is that a researcher is unable to control their collection. For this study, I was unable to use a more complex design because there was no way to distinguish which participants had both an official and unofficial mentor within the categories of generational cohorts. Therefore, it would be impossible to determine whether each generational cohort prefers official or unofficial mentorship within a single research question. Because I could not cross the two independent variables, I had separate research questions for each condition of the mentor status.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The research questions for the study examined official and unofficial mentorship and generational cohorts to address the problem as described in Chapter 1. Professional learning and mentorship are complex processes that are used by schools to change classroom practice with the intent of increasing student achievement (Lieberman &

Hanson, 2012; Zachary, 2012). However, based on their shared values and experiences, each generational cohort of educators may view teaching and learning from a unique perspective, thus responding differently to mentoring. Furthermore, the literature review from Chapter 2 revealed a gap in the current body of knowledge with regards to how generational cohorts of teachers viewed unofficial and official mentorship. Specifically, this research addressed a gap in the literature about STOYs and their views on mentor status. The two research questions for the study were:

RQ1: Is there a significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of official mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support?

 H_{01} : There is no significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of official mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support.

 $(H_{\rm Al})$: STOY Baby Boomers will have significantly higher perceptions of official mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and/or the ability to offer support as compared with Generation Xers.

RQ2: Is there a significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support?

 (H_{02}) : There is no significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support.

 (H_{A2}) : STOY Generation Xers will have significantly higher perceptions of unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and/or the ability to offer support as compared with Baby Boomers.

Methodology

This section of Chapter 3 contains a detailed description of the methodology that was used in the study. The population, sampling and sampling procedures, procedures for recruitment and participation are discussed. The data collection associated with the main study and the procedure and permissions for gaining access to the dataset are also presented. Furthermore, I describe the instrumentation, operationalization of constructs, and data analysis plan. This section concludes by outlining the threats to validity and ethical procedures to be used in the study.

Population

This study was designed to produce results that were generalizable to novice teachers within their first five years in education. Although the STOYs who took the survey were, on average, older and more experienced than the average teacher in the United States (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014), the STOYs perceived mentorship as a key contributor to their professional growth during their first five years in the classroom. In this way, they may potentially represent the broader population of beginning teachers to whom these results generalize. The approach used by the original researchers clarifies this assertion.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

Because this study relied on existing data, an understanding of how they were originally collected is vitally important, especially as related to sampling. The American Institutes for Research (2014) used a convenience sample, a nonprobability sample design for the original study (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015). The convenience sample approach is characterized by selecting whatever sampling units are available to the researchers. This sampling technique is both time and cost efficient (Laerd Research, 2013). Typically, the researcher would be unable to estimate if the convenience sample is characteristic of the general population and thus generalizing any findings would be difficult. However, in this case, the survey methodologists from the American Institutes for Research (2014) did compare the demographic data of the respondents to the demographic data of the STOYs in the database of the NNSTOY organization (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). They concluded that their sample included teachers from every grade level and across all core content areas. Furthermore, they had a variety of teachers who had taught at more than one school and included teaching assignments that served at-risk youth in both urban and rural settings.

Other nonprobability sampling techniques include purposive samples and quota samples (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015; Laerd Research, 2013). Purposive samples are when the researcher purposely selects the sample units to appear to be representative of the population. The disadvantages of this sampling technique include researcher bias and the defense of participant selection. The Good to Great study did not select STOY participants based on other characteristics but rather attempted to increase

the response rate as high as possible within the convenience sample (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). Quota samples can also be used to select a sample that is as close as possible to the sampling population (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015). In the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014), a quota sample would have been nearly impossible to use because the strata (or sampling groups) would overlap too much. Gender, age, classroom experience, teaching assignment, and other groups would be too much to attempt to match for quota sampling.

The American Institutes for Research (2014) also did not choose a probability sample design for the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). Probability sample designs such as simple random samples, systematic samples, stratified samples, or cluster samples help the researcher randomly select sample units that are representative of a population using a probability method (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015; Laerd, 2013). Although probability sample designs enable the researcher to make statistical inferences and control biases, these designs also have limitations. For instance, a complete list of the population must be available for probability sampling. In the Good to Great study, the researchers were limited to the STOYs that had e-mail access, thus limiting their population (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). Also, the database of STOYs is limited to those receiving the award since 1970 and those registered with NNSTOY. Of the 763 registered STOYs, 755 had valid e-mail addresses. Probability sampling designs would not have been a good fit with this population.

To minimize the likelihood of a statistical error, the sample should be large enough to test the research questions (Trochim, 2006). To compute the sample size to

achieve 80% power, alpha = .05, and a medium (.5) effect size; the G*Power 3 software (Faul, Erdfelder, Lang & Buchner, 2007) was used. A post-hoc test showed that 70 participants in each group were needed to achieve the sample size goals. Therefore the 127 Gen Xers and 180 Baby Boomers in the existing dataset were expected to be adequate, depending on how many of each group responded to the questions on mentorship. The needed sample size was also estimated using another sample size generator on Abraxas Energy's website (Rao, 2009). The parameters inputted were a 5% margin of error, a 95% confidence level, and the registered STOY population size of 755. Using this generator, the recommended sample size was 255 participants overall, which was less than the overall sample size of 311 participants.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

The survey methodologists from the American Institutes for Research (2014) were responsible for administering the original Good to Great survey in the fall of 2013 (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). NNSTOY provided the methodologists with a participant list of 763 pre-K through 12th grade teachers nationwide who had been selected as STOYs between 1970 and 2013. The list was narrowed to 755 teachers, eliminating those who could not be reached via e-mail. All 755 teachers received a prenotice of the survey and were sent a link with an anonymous log in to the online survey (American Institutes for Research, 2014). The pre-notice included participants' rights and the purpose of the survey. On logging in, the participants were notified that the survey would take approximately 40 minutes and may be completed in multiple sittings using the same log in. They were also notified that the survey deadline was November 22, 2013

and that all responses were voluntary. The introduction indicated that questions on the survey could be skipped without penalty. Four follow-up e-mails were sent to non-respondents in an attempt to increase the response rate. There were 311 completed surveys (41%), indicating an exceptionally high response rate for an online survey (American Institutes for Research, 2014).

In the fall of 2015, I contacted the executive director and CEO of the NNSTOY organization, to discuss using the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) as a data source for this study. The executive director agreed that the new study could add value to the original study and facilitated a conference call with the American Institutes for Research. Through a series of conference calls and e-mails with the lead researcher, permission to use the data was granted. The complete dataset was provided once the study had been approved by Walden University's IRB (Approval No. 02-22-17-0299523).

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

The Good to Great Report (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) described the process for developing the 5-point Likert type survey instrument, including the stakeholders involved and drafting process. The core team of researchers included seven partner organizations: American Association of Colleges of Teacher Education, Center on Great Teachers and Leaders (GTL Center) at American Institutes for Research (AIR), Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation, Council of Chief State School Officers, National Council on Teacher Quality, National Education Association, and NNSTOY. In May 2013, the team drafted the survey and subsequently in June 2013 met with an initial

focus group including STOYs, professional teaching organizations, and educational policy makers. The draft was reviewed and feedback from the first group was used to edit the survey. A second focus group of similar stakeholders convened in July 2013 to review the new draft and provide feedback. To increase the reliability and validity of the scores, the core team revised the survey again prior to forwarding it for completion. The American Institutes for Research (2014) edited and finalized the instrument. The report noted that survey methodologists used the online survey software, Vovici 6, and that the instrument had been tested (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014, p. 32).

The first independent variable in the study was generational cohorts, further defined by two groups: Baby Boomers and Gen Xers. The Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) collected demographic information from each participant, including age categories. Due to the use of the pre-existing age group categories from the original study, the birth years of each generational cohort were adjusted slightly to match the dataset. This decision is discussed in detail in the data coding section of Chapter 4. For the purpose of this study, participants born prior to 1962 were categorized and Baby Boomers. Participants born between 1963 and 1982 were categorized as Gen Xers. This variable was dichotomous. Based on the data available in the public domain, and using the pre-defined birth years, I was able to determine that 127 of the respondents would be Gen Xers and 180 would be Baby Boomers. The Millennial generation included only 4 participants and therefore this generational cohort was not included in the study.

The second independent variable, status of the mentor, was also dichotomous. As noted earlier, the existing dataset did not allow for the more powerful, single 2x2 design, which might show some interaction effects between the generational cohort and type of mentor. Therefore, two separate research questions were crafted and the threshold for rejecting the null adjusted accordingly.

The dependent variables selected from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) were mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and their ability to offer support—three qualities that the mentee (STOY) attributed to increasing his or her effectiveness as an educator. Behrstock-Sherratt et al. (2014) defined the mentor's level of empathy as the level of compassion the mentor exhibits towards the mentee. The alignment of personality to the mentee was defined as how closely the mentor's interests were complimentary to the mentee's interests. Finally, the mentor's ability to offer support referred to how well the mentor was able to provide helpful advice to the mentee.

The operationalization of constructs remained consistent in the study. The participants rated the variables on a Likert-type scale of 1–5. With each prompt on the original survey, the participants indicated their opinion about the degree of importance of the statement towards effective mentorship ($1 = not \ at \ all \ important$, $2 = not \ very$ important, $3 = neither \ important \ nor \ unimportant$, $4 = somewhat \ important$, or 5 = very important.) Thus, the dependent variables were at the interval level.

Data Analysis

The research questions for the study focused on whether there was a significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of official and unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support. In this study, there were two independent variables, generational cohorts and mentors' status, where group differences were tested within categories of the mentors' status. The three dependent variables were the official and unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and their ability to offer support. The causal-comparative design necessitated an analytical strategy that was appropriate for one dichotomous independent variable and three metric dependent variables (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015; Trochim, 2006; Wiesner, 2006). A Hotelling's T^2 test was determined as an appropriate analysis to answer the research questions.

The Hotelling's T^2 is a multivariate extension of an independent sample t test, making it a more robust statistical analysis as compared with running multiple independent sample t tests (Wiesner, 2006). The use of a multivariate analysis also helped control for potential Type I error as compared with analyzing the dependent variables separately. More importantly, the use of a multivariate technique enabled the detection of differences in groups based on the combinations of scores on the dependent variables (Wiesner, 2006). On the contrary, an independent sample t test would only identify differences for a single dependent variable (Green & Salkind, 2014).

Prior to beginning the statistical analysis using the SPSS software (Green & Salkind, 2014), some diagnostic tests were needed. First, I ensured my data met the four assumptions of the Hotelling's T^2 test (Wiesner, 2006). The first assumption, independence, means that the participants for each population were independently sampled. The second assumption states that that there are no distinct subpopulations with different means. The procedures implemented in the original Good to Great research study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) confirmed that the subjects were independently sampled and controlled for subpopulations. These assumptions were already met.

The third assumption of a Hotelling's T^2 test is normality of variables (Wiesner, 2006). This means that the data from both populations are normally distributed. This assumption was verified by computing skewness and kurtosis to determine whether the shape of the distributions was within the normal range. (Laerd Statistics, 2015). The final assumption, homoscedasticity, is closely related to normality. That is, if both dependent variables are normally distributed, then the outcome will be homoscedastic. I checked this assumption through using Levene's test of equality of variances. Once I reviewed the assumptions, I moved forward with the Hotelling's T^2 test.

Because I was unable to conduct a more powerful multiple variable analysis due to the structure of the dataset, I conducted two separate Hotelling's T^2 tests for the conditions of the second independent variable of mentor status. To control for possible over-interpretation of data that were analyzed twice, I adjusted the a priori alpha level (.05) by dividing it in half (p < .025).

To control for Type I error and test for significant differences at the univariate level, post-hoc analyses were needed. I used independent sample t tests with a Bonferroni correction and the a priori alpha level of .05 to identify any significant differences. In this case, three dependent variables with a corrected alpha would be significant at p < .008 (.025/3 = .008).

Threats to Validity

The purpose of this study was to compare Baby Boomers and Gen Xers to determine if there were differences in perceived attributes of official and unofficial mentorship based on their cohort. The research design was quantitative and causal-comparative because the study examined the relationship between variables through statistically analyzing the data gathered from a numerical instrument. Research validity, or the demonstration that the inferences and conclusions made are accurate, is a vital component of empirical research (Trochim, 2006). This section explains how I addressed internal, construct, and external validity in the study.

Internal validity refers to the causal relationship between variables in a study (Trochim, 2006). Many of the typical threats to internal validity were controlled for within the original Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) research design. For instance, the data were collected from each participant at a single point in time. Therefore, internal threats such as maturation between measurements, historical changes, attrition, changes in instrumentation, and the effects of subsequent testing were not applicable to this study. Another threat to internal validity is selection (Trochim, 2006). To minimize this threat, the original study sent the survey link to all of the 755 STOYs on

file with the NNSTOY organization. Participation was voluntary for all participants and, as such, each STOY had an equal opportunity to participate in the study.

External validity refers to how well the findings of the study could be generalized to other places, times, and populations (Trochim, 2006). To address external validity, the survey methodologists from the American Institutes for Research (2014) compared the demographic data of the respondents to the demographic data of all STOYs and the general population of teachers in the United States. They found that their sample included a representative group based on grades taught, content areas, regions of the country, and teaching settings. However, the STOYs who participated were older and more experienced than the average teacher in the United States (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). Although not always the case, age and teaching experience are often linked because as teachers gain more experience, they also grow older. Because the data were disaggregated by generational cohorts, the age of the participants was accounted for within the analysis, increasing the external validity of the study. There were two specific threats to external validity when attempting to generalize the study to all novice teachers. First, the original study did not collect demographic data about race, ethnicity, or level of education. Therefore, it was unclear if the population in the study was completely representative of most beginning teachers. Furthermore, although the STOYs in the study were asked to reflect on their first five years of teaching, their life experiences, including serving as a mentor, winning the STOY award, and other unique leadership opportunities could have influenced their perspectives on mentorship.

Construct validity was determined through the instrument development process used by the original Good to Great researchers (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014).

Described in detail in the operationalization of constructs section, the process for developing the measurement instrument was multi-faceted. A core team of seven partner organizations met to develop the original research survey. This was presented to a focus group for stakeholder feedback and then edited. Another core team met to revise the instrument prior to sending the draft to a second focus group. Based on feedback, the instrument was edited again prior to the American Institutes for Research (2014) completing the survey instrument. To minimize potential measurement error, I generated reliability estimates for a sample of respondents before the main analysis was conducted.

Statistical conclusion validity was addressed through the statistical test selected for data analysis. The Hotelling's T^2 test is a more robust test than running multiple independent sample t tests (Wiesner, 2006). Additionally, the Hotelling's T^2 test is appropriate to use with an independent variable that contains two groups, Gen Xers and Baby Boomers. As described in detail in the data analysis section, other diagnostic tests were completed to ensure that the assumptions were met for the Hotelling's T^2 test. Finally, the post hoc analyses with a Bonferroni correction helped to control for Type I error. Strong statistical conclusion validity was achieved through the combined use of the Hotelling's T^2 test, diagnostic tests, and post hoc analyses.

Ethical Procedures

In this section, I outline the ethical procedures and considerations for the study. In the original Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014), members of the NNSTOY organization received an e-mail notification in November of 2013, requesting their voluntary participation in the study. The pre-notice e-mail informed participants of their rights and privacy considerations. Participants had the opportunity to enroll in the study through clicking a survey link that was e-mailed on four follow-up dates. All participants were over the age of 18 and the results of the survey were anonymous. At any point during the survey, participants could choose to discontinue their participation through simply closing the browser.

Through contacting the executive director of NNSTOY in the fall of 2015, I was able to make contact with the American Institutes for Research. After numerous conference calls and e-mails, the lead researcher agreed to provide access to the dataset. Furthermore, the original study passed the Internal Review Board approval process from the American Institutes for Research. The dataset was de-identified and sent electronically after Walden University approved the study. Once received, the data were kept confidential through a secure, password-protected web-server. The people who had access to the data were my dissertation committee, the original research team, and me.

Summary

In summary, I sought to compare Baby Boomers and Gen Xers to determine if there were differences in perceived attributes of official and unofficial mentorship based on their cohort. The research design selected for this study was nonexperimental and causal-comparative. I completed a secondary data analysis using existing data from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). Thus, all participants had been recognized as STOYs. The Hotelling's T^2 test, partnered with other diagnostic tests and

post hoc analyses, were used to statistically analyze the data. Threats to validity and ethical procedures were also described in detail. The methodology described in this chapter supports the research design and provided the data needed to sufficiently answer the research questions.

In Chapter 4 of this study, I discuss data collection and the results of the research. The analysis included descriptive statistics, tests for assumptions, and the results of post hoc analyses. The chapter concludes with a summary of how the data can be used to answer the research questions.

Chapter 4: Results

For decades, the American school system has been struggling to increase student achievement (DuFour & Eaker, 1998; Gardner, 1983). Teacher mentorship as a form of professional development has been proposed as one way to improve teacher practice and student outcomes (Ingersoll & Strong, 2011; Lieberman & Hanson, 2012; Zachary, 2012). But teachers from different generations may view mentorship differently due to their generational cohort affiliation (Strauss & Howe, 1991; Zachary, 2012). This study addressed a gap in the literature by examining how a unique population of successful teacher leaders, STOYs, perceived the nature of formal and informal mentoring relationships.

The purpose of this research was to advance generational cohort theory (Strauss & Howe, 1991) and educational practice as they related specifically to the generational cohorts of Baby Boomers and Gen Xers and their views on official and unofficial mentors in their teaching careers. Relying on existing data from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014), I used a nonexperimental, causal-comparative research design. The main independent variable was generational cohorts. This independent variable consisted of two groups: Baby Boomers and Gen Xers. The second variable was mentor status, also categorized into two groups: official and unofficial. Given how the dataset was constructed, however, I was unable to treat it as an independent variable in the analysis but I did incorporate these categories into my study by using two research questions. The dependent variables were the official and unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and their ability to offer support.

Based on a review of the literature, two main research questions emerged:

RQ1: Is there a significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of official mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support?

 H_{01} : There is no significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of official mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support.

(*H*_{A1}): STOY Baby Boomers will have significantly higher perceptions of official mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and/or the ability to offer support as compared with Generation Xers.

RQ2: Is there a significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support?

 (H_{02}) : There is no significant difference between STOY Baby Boomers' and STOY Generation Xers' perceptions of unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and the ability to offer support.

 (H_{A2}) : STOY Generation Xers will have significantly higher perceptions of unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and/or the ability to offer support as compared with Baby Boomers.

In Chapter 4 I include a review of the data collection procedures and a description of how the existing dataset was organized and transmitted. Data screening and coding are described in detail. Descriptive and demographic characteristics of the sample are also

discussed. The results section highlights statistical assumptions, the findings of the statistical analyses, and additional statistical tests that were run based on the results of the main analyses. Chapter 4 ends with a summary of the answers to each research question.

Data Collection

The dataset from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) was first received on February 23, 2017. On reviewing the file with my dissertation committee, I noticed that the researchers at the American Institutes for Research had collapsed the age group categories as part of the process to de-identify the data. Without age group categories, the data were insufficient to answer the research questions about generational cohort perceptions. On March 8, 2017, I contacted the lead researcher to request only the data from the specific items as related directly to the research variables. Based on the new parameters, the researchers at the American Institutes for Research sent the final dataset on March 31, 2017.

Data Screening

The dataset included 328 participants. However, due to having a birthdate after 1982, five participants were classified as Millennials and were removed from the study. Therefore, the total number of respondents in the secondary analysis was 323. The dataset sent to me by American Institutes for Research included both complete and incomplete surveys, resulting in a discrepancy with the originally published sample size (N = 311). For my purposes, I was able to start with all respondents. Furthermore, based on the modified definitions for each generational cohort, discussed in detail in the data

coding section below, 137 participants were categorized as Gen Xers and 186 were defined as Baby Boomers (N = 323).

Data Coding

One of the primary challenges in using existing data is that the dataset may not align perfectly to the research questions. For the purposes of this study, the categories of the generational cohorts were adopted to align with Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory: Baby Boomers, born between 1943-1960, and Gen Xers, born between 1961-1981. The specific birth years for each generational cohort were disputed heavily in the literature (Edge, 2014; Gardiner et al., 2013; Holyoke & Larson, 2009; Houck, 2011). In the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014), there was one demographic question that asked participants to select their age group category rather than state their exact age. The pre-selected age ranges were: under 25 years, 25-30 years, 31-35 years, 36-40 years, 41-45 years, 46-50 years, 51-55 years, 56-60 years, and over 60 years old. Based on the year of the original survey, I was able to determine that participants who selected age group 31-35 through age group 46-50 would have been born between 1963-1982. These groups aligned most closely to Strauss and Howe's (1991) definition of Gen Xers, born between 1961-1981. To select the age groups for the Baby Boomers, and in consultation with my supervisory committee, I made the decision to use the participants who marked the age group categories of 51-55, 56-60, and over 60. This group included all participants with birth years prior to 1962. The Strauss and Howe (1991) definition for Baby Boomers is 1943-1960. Although some participants in the over-60 age range may have been born prior to 1943, this possibility is unlikely due to

the fact that they would have been over 70 years old and still teaching at the time of the survey. This slight modification was not seen as a limit to the study, however.

The dependent variables selected from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) were mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and their ability to offer support. With each question on the original survey, the participants indicated their perceptions about the degree of importance of the statement towards effective mentorship using a Likert-type scale of 1-5 ($1 = not \ at \ all \ important$, $2 = not \ very \ important$, $3 = neither \ important \ nor \ unimportant$, $4 = somewhat \ important$, or $5 = very \ important$.) Thus, the dependent variables were used as originally scored.

Although 323 participants were coded into cohorts, not all respondents responded to the six items that were used in my research. The original study allowed participants to skip survey questions that did not apply to them. Therefore, the cohorts for my study were smaller than the recommended 70 participants per group from my a priori analysis (actual power estimates are reported in Table 2). As discussed in Chapter 3, however, a non-probability sample design was used in the original study and with the exception of age, the population was representative of American teachers with regards to regions of the United States, grade levels, content areas, and teaching settings.

The analyses of missing data in the overall dataset showed that 45 of the 137 Gen X participants and 22 of the 186 Baby Boomer participants indicated that they had an official mentor and completed these three related questions in the survey. The response rate to the three related questions about unofficial mentorship was higher, with 58 Gen X

respondents and 62 Baby Boomers participating. If teachers did not answer all three questions in a mentoring category, their responses were not used in the main analyses.

Results

The results section includes a detailed review of the descriptive statistics that appropriately characterize the sample. The assumptions for the Hotelling's T^2 are evaluated. The results to the main statistical analyses are revealed, along with the results of the post hoc analysis. The section concludes by answering the research questions.

Descriptive Statistics

Table 1 highlights the descriptive statistics used to evaluate the dependent variables. Generally, fewer participants responded to questions about official mentorship as compared to unofficial mentorship. The means for each variable had a small range from 4.16 to 4.90, indicating that most participants ranked all of the dependent variables as important factors in mentoring relationships.

Table 1

Descriptive Statistics Used to Evaluate the Dependent Variables

Variable	n	M	SD	Skewnessa	Kurtosis ^b	Levene's p
Official Empathy	92	4.72	.50	-1.51	1.38	.49
Official Personality alignment	75	4.16	.70	-0.47	.07	.43
Official Support/Advice	97	4.88	.33	-2.32	3.46	.91
Unofficial Empathy	147	4.77	.44	-1.53	1.03	.04
Unofficial Personality Alignment	128	4.37	.74	-1.30	2.66	.91
Unofficial Support/Advice	150	4.90	.30	-2.69	5.33	.91

Note. M = mean, SD = standard deviation, a standard error = .17, b standard error = .33

Evaluation of Assumptions for the Hotelling's T^2

Four main assumptions must be met to use the Hotelling's T^2 for a statistical analysis (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2015; Trochim, 2006; Wiesner, 2006). The first two assumptions were already met prior to this analysis, based on the procedures outlined in the original Good to Great research study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). Independence was achieved when participants for each population were independently sampled. All STOYs with a valid e-mail address received equal access to the survey through a unique participant log in. The second assumption, no distinct subpopulations with different means, was also controlled for within the research design. No subpopulations were evident in the data. Based on the design of the Good to Great research study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014), the subjects were independently sampled and controlled for subpopulations.

The third assumption of a Hotelling's T^2 test is normality of variables (Wiesner, 2006). To verify this assumption, I computed the values for skewness and kurtosis. Values less than 2 or greater than -2 are considered within the normal range (Laerd Statistics, 2015). The values for skewness and kurtosis for all dependent variables were noted in Table 1. For the dependent variables of official support/advice and unofficial support/advice, the values of both skewness and kurtosis were considered outside of the normal range. Additionally, the kurtosis value for unofficial personality alignment was high, at 2.66. However, the Hotelling's T^2 is not generally sensitive to violations of the assumption of normality (Wiesner, 2006).

Homoscedasticity was assessed with a Levene's test, which assesses whether the population variances of the groups are equal. Thus, a significant result (p < .05) indicates a violation of the assumption of homoscedasticity (Green & Salkind, 2014). The results of the Levene's test were reported in Table 1. One dependent variable, unofficial empathy, showed significance (p = .04). The other five dependent variables did not show significance. Because the Hotelling's T^2 is a robust test and can handle outliers, a decision was made to move forward with all six dependent variables in the main analyses.

Inferential Statistics

The first analysis with Hotelling's T^2 indicated that there was not a statistically significant difference between the two generational cohorts when examining their perceptions of official mentorship, $T^2 = 7.80$, F(3, 63) = 2.52, p = .07. Likewise, the Hotelling's T^2 used to examine perceptions of unofficial mentorship indicated that there was not a significant difference between the two generational cohorts, $T^2 = 4.43$, F(3, 116) = 1.45, p = .23. In both instances, I was unable to reject the null hypotheses as originally proposed.

In multivariate analysis, confounding variables can sometimes mask meaningful effects. Although the Hotelling's T^2 is robust, it is not completely non-sensitive to violations of its assumptions. Because a few dependent variables in this study were slightly skewed and/or kurtotic, I decided to review the between subjects effects for the six dependent variables. Only one variable, official personality alignment, was seen as noteworthy (p = .01) and worth discussion in Chapter 5.

When ran as a simple univariate test, which included the 10 individuals who only responded to this item, the results indicated that there was a statistically significant difference in mean scores for official personality alignment between Baby Boomers and Gen Xers, t(73)=2.95, p=.01. The mean for Gen Xers (4.00) was significantly lower than the mean for Baby Boomers (4.48).

Table 2

Tests of Between Subjects Effects

Variable	Gen X	Baby Boomers	p	Partial η ²
	n	n		
Official Empathy	45	22	.97	.00
Official Personality alignment	45	22	.01	.10
Official Support/Advice	45	22	.56	.00
Unofficial Empathy	58	62	.11	.03
Unofficial Personality Alignment	58	62	.30	.00
Unofficial Support/Advice	58	62	.18	.00

Summary

The purpose of this quantitative, casual-comparative study was to examine how different generations of STOYS perceived official and unofficial mentoring relationships. The goal of the study was to determine if there was a significant difference in how Baby Boomers and Generation Xers perceived official and unofficial mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, or their ability to offer support. Hotelling's T^2 tests indicated that Baby Boomers and Gen Xers did not show a significant difference in their perceptions of official nor unofficial mentoring factors. However, a

post hoc analysis indicated that Baby Boomers had a significantly higher (p = .01) perception of official mentors' personality alignment to the mentee. This result led me to accept the alternative hypothesis for the first research question. Since the tests of between subjects effects showed that there were no other significant dependent variables, I accepted the null hypothesis for the second research question.

Chapter 5 of this dissertation summarizes and interprets the main findings from the study. The limitations of the study and recommendations for future research are also presented. The chapter concludes by highlighting the implications for positive social change.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this study was to advance generational cohort theory and educational practice by examining how different generations perceived official and unofficial mentorship. Specifically, Baby Boomers and Gen Xers were compared to determine whether there were differences in how they perceived their mentors' levels of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and ability to offer support. The nature of this study was a secondary quantitative analysis of data collected from the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014). To address the research questions, the study was nonexperimental and causal-comparative. The results contribute to the body of knowledge about professional learning in education by offering a generational perspective on formal and informal mentorship. This study could inform school districts and other organizations that are looking towards mentorship as a way to build their organizational capacity.

The key findings of the study were noteworthy but unexpected. Based on the initial Hotelling's T^2 analyses, there were no significant differences found between Baby Boomers' and Gen Xers' perceptions of official nor unofficial mentorship. However, the post hoc analysis indicated that Baby Boomers showed a significantly higher perception of the importance of an official mentor's alignment of the personality with the mentee when compared with Gen Xers. Across both generational cohorts, the means for each variable had a small range (4.16 to 4.90) for formal and informal mentoring relationships. This finding indicated that most participants ranked all of the dependent variables as important factors in mentoring relationships.

In Chapter 5 I interpret the main findings from the study in the context of the literature and the theoretical foundations. The limitations of the study are also presented. Chapter 5 includes recommendations for future research based on the study's strengths, limitations, and the literature. The chapter concludes by discussing its implications for positive social change.

Interpretation of the Findings

The findings in this study served to confirm and extend both the literature within the field of educational mentorship and Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory. One of its main findings was told in the descriptive data. For both generational cohorts, the means for each variable ranged from 4.16 to 4.90 (with 5 being high) for both formal and informal mentoring relationships. Most participants ranked all of the dependent variables as important mentoring factors. Numerous researchers concurred that the mentor's level of empathy, alignment of personality to the mentee, and ability to offer support, contributed to the effectiveness of the mentoring relationship (Efron et al. 2012; Israel et al., 2014; Linder, 2011; Pogodzinski, 2012; Wasburn et al., 2012). For instance, studies showed that when a mentor's personality was aligned with the mentee, the mentee was more likely to interact with the mentor and less likely to encounter obstacles (Eriksson, 2013; Pogodzinski, 2012). The literature also indicated that effective mentors offered professional support and advice to their mentees (Linder, 2011; Meixia & Carlson, 2013; Polly & Hannafin, 2011; Vale et al., 2010).

The high ranking of the level of importance of the dependent variables also extended Zachary's (2012) mentoring theory. Zachary noted that effective mentors

support learning through maintaining a positive relationship and listening to the mentee's needs. Zachary (2012) also suggested that mentors facilitate growth by engaging in discussions to offer support and advice, setting tasks, and evaluating outcomes collaboratively. The participants in this study indicated that support, advice, empathy, and personality alignment were all essential factors in their mentoring relationships.

The other noteworthy finding of the study was that Baby Boomers had a significantly higher (p = .01) perception of official mentors' personality alignment to the mentee. This finding confirmed Strauss and Howe's (1991) generational cohort theory. Strauss and Howe proposed that Baby Boomers are passionate about professional autonomy and independence, preferring to work alone. Gen Xers, on the contrary, are flexible and more willing to collaborate, understanding the value of team teaching and planning. Given these personality traits, when an independent Baby Boomer is assigned an official mentor, it would be imperative that the personality of the mentor and mentee align. However, a Gen Xer, with a more flexible and collaborative nature, may find personality alignment between the official mentor and mentee less important. Teamwork with any personality type might be more accepted by Gen Xers than Baby Boomers.

Limitations of the Study

Due to the nature of the study and the use of existing data, there were several unavoidable limitations. First, the Good to Great study (Behrstock-Sherratt et al., 2014) used a convenience sample. The researchers collected demographics to compare the sample population to the general population of teachers in the United States and found that the respondents were a representative group based on grades taught, content areas,

regions of the country, and teaching settings. However, there was no demographic information collected about race, gender, and level of education. Because a convenience sample is a non-probability sampling design, the results should be interpreted with caution.

Another limitation of the study related to sampling was the sample size of each group of the generational cohorts. Prior to receiving the dataset, I was unable to determine how many Gen Xers and Baby Boomers had answered the questions about unofficial and official mentorship. Due to missing data, the group sizes for both official and unofficial mentorship were less than the ideal of 70 participants as calculated by the G*Power 3 software (Faul et al., 2007). A larger sample would have given a larger effect size and increased the validity of the study.

An additional challenge of this study was the highly positive nature of the participants' views of their mentors. The response distributions were clustered toward the upper end of scale, making it difficult to identify differences. With the first analysis of formal mentors, it is possible that a larger sample might have produced significant results. Closer inspection of the between group effects for each of the six dependent variables indicated a significant difference for one construct, which seemed amenable to interpretation.

One compromise in the study was the inability for me to use a more complex research design to cross the independent variables in the same analysis. While potentially a limitation to this study, doing so would have assumed that teachers in both generations had experienced both types of mentoring relationships. Of the 323 people in the dataset,

only 35 answered the survey items related to the six dependent variables, which was not enough to conduct that type of multivariate analysis.

The final limitation of the study was the specific population of teachers being sampled, STOYs. This constraint presented a threat to external validity and generalizability of this research study to all teachers. Even though the participants in the study were asked to reflect on their first five years as a novice teacher, prior to winning the award, their life experiences could have influenced their perspectives on mentorship. Leadership opportunities resulting from the STOY award such as serving as a mentor, offering professional development to colleagues, and receiving scholarships for continued education might change how they perceive both unofficial and official mentorship. It is possible that STOYs are systematically different than the general population of teachers because of the unique opportunities afforded to them from the Teacher of the Year program. This should be considered when generalizing the results to other populations of teachers.

Recommendations

This dissertation research examined how different generations of STOYs perceived specific attributes of official and unofficial mentors. Due to the use of existing data, there were several unrealized opportunities for additional research about STOYs and mentorship. Within the dataset, only 35 respondents answered all the questions on official and unofficial mentorship. Therefore, the sample was too small to determine whether each generational cohort preferred official or unofficial mentorship. Future research might include a comparison of generational cohorts who had both types of

mentors. Furthermore, the dataset used for this research study included only five participants born prior to 1982 and characterized as Millennials. Millennials have been a source of much debate in the last decade and are known for their favorable response to mentorship (Howe & Strauss, 2008). A study that compares Millennials to other generational cohorts could provide meaningful data about how to engage Millennials in the workforce.

Additionally, as a result of their STOY award, many STOYS become mentors later in their careers. A future study that examines how becoming a mentor changes one's perspective on being mentored would contribute to the body of knowledge within the field. Also, based on the limitations of generalizing the study to other populations of teachers, I would recommend that future research include the administration of a similar survey to a more generalized population of teachers.

The literature review revealed a variety of research needs. First, numerous researchers recommended organizational mentorship training for all teachers who engage in informal mentoring (Desimone et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012; Wasburn et al., 2012). A study that examines the impact of organizational mentorship training would contribute to the educational field. Also, as new technologies are interjected into the work environment, additional research is warranted to discover how each generation responds to various forms of technology use in mentoring (Edge, 2014; Gómez and Arias, 2015; Houck, 2011, Merriweather & Morgan, 2013). Numerous studies have been designed as program evaluations with a small scope of participants (Efron et al., 2012; Eriksson, 2013; Howe & Jacobs, 2013; Israel et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2014; Preston et al., 2014;

Sayler et al., 2013; Thomas et al., 2015). Future research in the field of educational mentorship might include a broader scope of participants. Also, the literature on mentorship focused on teacher induction (Desimone et al., 2014; Ingersoll & Strong, 2011; Israel et al., 2014; Pogodzinski, 2012). Mentoring occurs throughout a teacher's career. Additional research about later career mentoring might also provide useful insights to the field of education.

Implications

The results of this research have implications for positive social change on several levels. On an individual level, mentors and mentees across career fields might refer to this study to build more satisfying mentoring relationships. On an organizational level, by using generation cohort typology to better align assigned mentors and mentees, school districts could more effectively support the mentor–mentee relationship. In turn, more effective mentorship could lead to higher quality professional performance in the field of business. In the field of education, this professional learning could lead to improved student outcomes. On the societal level, as K-12 schools, districts, and states take advantage of the expertise of teacher leaders, they can support a more capable and diverse workforce (Bosso, 2014).

In summary, this study provides some guidance for schools implementing official mentorship programs. Although every generation noted the importance of a personality alignment between mentor and mentee, this factor is most important to Baby Boomers.

Since Baby Boomers are the veteran teachers in the schools, and also the most

independent, ensuring a good match between the mentor and mentee is vital to the success of the mentoring relationship.

Conclusion

Although previous studies have examined mentorship and generations (Edge, 2014; Gardiner, 2013; Gómez and Arias, 2015; Houck, 2011, Merriweather & Morgan, 2013; Weis & Lang, 2012; Zachary, 2012), this is the first study that provided data about the understudied population of STOYs, offering a unique perspective on how different generations of successful teacher leaders perceived the nature of official and unofficial mentoring relationships. This dissertation research also used a broader scope of participants (STOYs from across the United States) rather than reviewing a specific mentoring program. Focusing on the generational cohorts of Baby Boomers and Gen Xers, the results indicated that the Baby Boomers had a significantly higher perception of their official mentors' personality alignment to the mentee as compared with Gen Xers.

The results of the study are important because, as school districts strive to increase student achievement, formal and informal mentors are playing a part in improving the professional practice of their colleagues. With a multi-generational workforce, it is vital that administrators and policy makers understand how different generations respond differently to mentoring. Hopefully, the results of this research can be used to educate upper level management and school administrators about the importance of intentionally matching mentors and mentees by personality types. I am confident that this dissertation research provides a strong foundation for future research in the areas of mentorship and generational cohorts.

References

- American Institutes for Research (2014). Survey instrument: Teacher perceptions of factors influencing effectiveness. Retrieved from http://www.gtlcenter.org/sites/default/files/Good_to_Great_Survey.pdf
- Arora, R., & Rangnekar, S. (2014). Workplace mentoring and career resilience: An empirical test. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, *17*(3), 205-220. doi:10.1037/mgr0000021
- Becton, J. B., Walker, H. J., & Jones-Farmer, A. (2014). Generational differences in workplace behavior. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 44(3), 175-189. doi:10.1111/jasp.12208
- Behrstock-Sherratt, E., Bassett, K., Olson, D., & Jacques, C. (2014). From good to great:

 Exemplary teachers share perspectives on increasing teacher effectiveness across the career continuum. Retrieved from

 http://www.nnstoy.org/download/Various/Good to Great Report.pdf
- Bosso, D. (2014). *This is what I am: Teacher morale, motivation, and professional identity in the context of education reform.* (Doctoral dissertation, American International College, 2014). Retrieved from http://www.nnstoy.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/Teacher-Researcher-Policy-Paper-David-Bosso-May-2017.pdf.
- Bynum, Y. P. (2015). The power of informal mentoring. *Education*, 136(1), 69-73.
- Campbell, C. M., Smith, M., Dugan, J. P., & Komives, S. R. (2012). Mentors and college student leadership outcomes: The importance of position and process. *Review of*

- *Higher Education, 35*(4), 595-625.
- Chval, K. B., Arbaugh, F., Lannin, J. K., van Garderen, D., Cummings, L., Estapa, A. T.,& Huey, M. E. (2010). The transition from experienced teacher to mathematicscoach. *Elementary School Journal*, 111(1), 191-216.
- Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO). (2016). NTOY Program. Retrieved from http://www.ccsso.org/ntoy.html
- Daloz, L. (2012). *Mentor: Guiding the journey of adult learners* (2nd ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Desimone, L. M., Hochberg, E. D., Porter, A. C., Polikoff, M. S., Schwartz, R., & Johnson, L. J. (2014). Formal and informal mentoring: Complementary, compensatory, or consistent? *Journal of Teacher Education*, 65(2), 88-110.
- DuFour, R. & Eaker, R. (1998). Professional learning communities at work: Best practices for enhancing student achievement. Bloomington, IN: National Education Service.
- DuFour, R. (2010). *Learning by doing: A handbook for professional learning communities at work* (2nd ed.). Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- Edge, K. (2014). A review of the empirical generations at work research: Implications for school leaders and future research. *School Leadership & Management*, *34*(2), 136-155.
- Efron, E., Winter, J. S., & Bressman, S. (2012). Toward a more effective mentoring model: An innovative program of collaboration. *Journal of Jewish Education*, 78(4), 331-361.

- Eriksson, A. (2013). Positive and negative facets of formal group mentoring: Preservice teacher perspectives. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 21(3), 272-291.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175-191.
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS Statistics* (4th ed.). London: Sage.
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2015). Research methods in the social sciences (8th ed.). New York: Worth.
- Gardiner, S., Grace, D., & King, C. (2013). Challenging the use of generational segmentation through understanding self-identity. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, *31*(6), 639-653. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/MIP-06-2012-0062
- Gardner, D. (1983). A nation at risk: The imperative for educational reform. An open letter to the American people. A report to the nation and the Secretary of Education. Washington, DC: Department of Education, National Commission on Excellence in Education.
- Gómez, P., & Arias, M. (2015). Role of the mentor's comments in the performance of mathematics teachers. *PNA*, *9*(4), 295-311.
- Green, S. B., & Salkind, N. J. (2014). *Using SPSS for Windows and Macintosh:*Analyzing and understanding data (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.

- Harbin, J., & Newton, J. (2013). Do perceptions and practices align? Case studies in intermediate elementary mathematics. *Education*, *133*(4), 538-543.
- Holyoke, L., & Larson, E. (2009). Engaging the adult learner generational mix. *Journal* of Adult Education, 38(1), 12-21.
- Houck, C. (2011). Multigenerational and virtual: How do we build a mentoring program for today's workforce? *Performance Improvement*, *50*(2), 25-30.
- Howe, N., & Jacobs, E. (2013). Mentors' perceptions of factors associated with change in early childhood classrooms. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, *59*(4), 591-612.
- Howe, N., & Strauss, W. (1993). *13th gen: Abort, retry, ignore, fail?* New York: Vintage Books.
- Howe, N., & Strauss, W. (2008). *Millennials and K-12 schools: Educational strategies* for a new generation. Great Falls, VA: Life Course Associates.
- Hull, T. H., & Balka, D. S. (2009). A guide to mathematics coaching: Processes for increasing student achievement. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- Ingersoll, R. M., & Strong, M. (2011). The impact of induction and mentoring programs for beginning teachers: A critical review of the research. *Review of Educational Research*, 81(2), 201-233.
- Israel, M., Kamman, M.L., McCray, E. D., & Sindelar, P.T. (2014). Mentoring in action:

 The interplay among professional assistance, emotional support and evaluation.

 Exceptional Children, 81(1), 45-63.
- Jong, C., Pedulla, J., Reagan, E., Salomon-Fernandez, Y., & Cochran-Smith, M. (2010).

- Exploring the link between reformed teaching practices and pupil learning in elementary school mathematics. *School Science & Mathematics*, *110*(6), 309-326. doi:10.1111/j.1949-8594.2010.00039.x
- Laerd Research. (2013). *Sampling strategy*. Retrieved from http://dissertation.laerd.com/sampling-strategy.php
- Laerd Statistics. (2015). *Statistical tutorials and software guides*. Retrieved from https://statistics.laerd.com/
- Lee, K. M., Krauss, S. E., Suandi, T., & Hamzah, A. (2014). Exploring the contribution of mentoring practices to mentee learning in a Malaysian youth development programme. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 1-14. doi: 10.1080/02673843.2013.862732
- Lieberman, A., & Hanson, S. (2012). *Mentoring teachers: Navigating the real-world tensions*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Linder, S. M. (2011). The facilitator's role in elementary mathematics professional development. *Mathematics Teacher Education and Development*, *13*(2), 44-66.
- Linder, S. M. (2012). Building content and communities: Developing a shared sense of early childhood mathematics pedagogy. *Journal of Early Childhood Teacher Education*, *33*(2), 109-126. doi:10.1080/10901027.2012.675837
- Linder, S. M., Eckhoff, A., Igo, L. B., & Stegelin, D. (2013). Identifying influential facilitators of mathematics professional development: A survey analysis of elementary school teachers. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 11(6), 1415-1435. doi:10.1007/s10763-012-9397-1

- Mannheim, K. (1927). The problem of generations (163-195). *Essays on the Sociology of Knowledge*. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- McConnell, T., Parker, J., Eberhardt, J., Koehler, M., & Lundeberg, M. (2013). Virtual professional learning communities: Teachers' perceptions of virtual versus faceto-face professional development. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 22(3), 267-277. doi:10.1007/s10956-012-9391-y
- Meixia, D., & Carlson, M. (2013). Elementary teachers' learning to construct highquality mathematics lesson plans. *Elementary School Journal*, 113(3), 359-385.
- Merriweather, L. R., & Morgan, A. J. (2013). Two cultures collide: Bridging the generation gap in a non-traditional mentorship. *Qualitative Report*, 18(12),1-16.
- Patten, M. L. (2004). *Understanding research methods: An overview of the essentials*. Glendale, CA: Pyrczak Publishing.
- Pogodzinski, B. (2012). Socialization of novice teachers. *Journal of School Leadership*, 22(5), 982-1023.
- Polly, D. (2012). Supporting mathematics instruction with an expert coaching model. *Mathematics Teacher Education & Development*, 14(1), 78-93.
- Polly, D., & Hannafin, M. J. (2011). Examining how learner-centered professional development influences teachers' espoused and enacted practices. *Journal of Educational Research*, 104(2), 120-130. doi:10.1080/00220671003636737
- Preston, J. P., Ogenchuk, M. J., & Nsiah, J. K. (2014). Peer mentorship and transformational learning: PhD student experiences. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 44(1), 52-68.

- Rao, S. (2009). *Sample size generator*. Retrieved from http://www.abraxasenergy.com/energy-resources/toolbox/sample-size/
- Sayler, B., Apaza, J., Kapust, V., Roth, S., Carroll, B., Tambe, P., & John, M. S. (2013).

 A partnership's effort to improve the teaching of K-12 mathematics in Rapid City,

 South Dakota. *Mathematics Enthusiast*, 10(3), 679-734.
- Strauss, W., & Howe, N. (1991). *Generations: The history of America's future, 1584 to 2069.* New York: William Morrow.
- Thessin, R. A. (2015). Learning from one urban school district: Planning to provide essential supports for teachers' work in professional learning communities. *Educational Planning*, 22(1), 15-27.
- Thomas, E., Bell, D., Spelman, M., & Briody, J. (2015). The growth of instructional coaching partner conversations in a preK-3rd grade teacher professional development experience. *MPAEA Journal of Adult Education*, 44(2), 1-6.
- Trochim, W. (2006). *Survey research*. Retrieved from http://www.socialresearchmethods.net/kb/survey.php
- Vale, C., Davies, A., Weaven, M., Hooley, N., Davidson, K., & Loton, D. (2010).
 Leadership to improve mathematics outcomes in low SES schools and school networks. *Mathematics Teacher Education & Development*, 12(2), 47-71.
- Wasburn, M. H., Wasburn-Moses, L., & Davis, D. R. (2012). Mentoring special educators: The roles of national board certified teachers. *Remedial and Special Education*, 33(1), 59-66.
- Weiss, D., & Lang, F. R. (2012). The two faces of age identity. Geropsych: The Journal

- of Gerontopsychology and Geriatric Psychiatry, 25(1), 5-14. doi:10.1024/1662-9647/a000050
- Wiesner, A. (2006). Two-sample Hotelling's T^2 . Unpublished manuscript, Department of Statistics, Penn State University, University Park; Pennsylvania. Retrieved from http://sites.stat.psu.edu/~ajw13/stat505/fa06/11_2sampHotel/
- Williams, R. B., Brien, K., & LeBlanc, J. (2012). Transforming schools into learning organizations: Supports and barriers to educational reform. *Canadian Journal of Educational Administration and Policy*, (134), 1-32.
- Yang, C., Hu, C., Baranik, L. E., & Lin, C. (2013). Can protégés be successfully socialized without socialized mentors? A close look at mentorship formality. *Journal of Career Development*, 40(5), 408-423.
- Zachary, L. (2012). *The mentor's guide: Facilitating effective learning relationships* (2nd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.